
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Community Safety, 
Environment and Residents 

Services Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Monday 18 January 2016 
7.00 pm 

Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Larry Culhane (Chair) 
Councillor Iain Cassidy 
Councillor Sharon Holder 
 

Councillor Charlie Dewhirst 
Councillor Steve Hamilton 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Ainsley Gilbert 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2088 
 E-mail: ainsley.gilbert@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 
 

Date Issued: 
 

12 January 2016 
 

 
 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Community Safety, Environment and 
Residents Services Policy and 

Accountability Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

18 January 2016 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  1 - 9 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 18th November 2015.  

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Committee member has any prejudicial or personal interest in a 
particular item they should declare the existence and nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as 
soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a prejudicial interest may 
also make representations, give evidence or answer questions about 
the matter. The Councillor must then withdraw immediately from the 
meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote taken unless a 
dispensation has been obtained from the Standards Committee.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance, then 
the Councillor with a prejudicial interest should withdraw from the 
meeting whilst the matter is under consideration unless the disability has 
been removed by the Standards Committee. 

 

4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 To invite questions from members of the public present.  
 
Members of the public with more complex issues are invited to submit 
their questions in advance in order to allow a more substantive answer 
to be given. Questions can be sent to the contact officer shown on the 
front page of the agenda.  

 

5.   UPDATE ON SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE SCHEMES  10 - 25 

6.   WORMHOLT PARK LANDSCAPE REFURBISHMENT PROJECT  26 - 31 

7.   FUTURE WASTE AND STREET CLEANSING SERVICES – 
INVOLVING THE CITIZEN – CONSULTATION OUTCOMES  

32 - 53 

8.   2016 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  54 - 69 

9.   WORK PROGRAMMING   

 The Committee is asked to suggest any items it wishes to consider at 
future meetings. 

 

10.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   

 The next meeting will be held on 2 March 2016.  
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Community Safety, 
Environment and 

Residents Services 
Policy and 

Accountability 
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Wednesday 18 November 2015 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Larry Culhane (Chair), Iain Cassidy, 
Sharon Holder, Charlie Dewhirst and Steve Hamilton 
 
Other Councillors: Ben Coleman and Wesley Harcourt 
 
Officers: Nick Boyle, Graham Burrell, Milan Ognjenovic, Chris Bainbridge, Patrick 
Crowley, Richard Duffill, David Page, Claire Rai and Valerie Simpson 
 

 
20. MINUTES  

 
RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2015 be approved as 
a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
Minute 15: Future Waste and Street Cleansing Services – Involving the 
Citizen 
Councillor Dewhirst asked why the consultation on Waste, Street Cleansing 
and Street Scene had not kept to the dates originally advertised. Councillor 
Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents’ 
Services, explained that he would have to look at whether the consultation 
had started on the correct date, as he did not have the information to hand. 
He explained that it had finished early as some local politicians had 
misinformed residents about the purpose of the consultation, meaning that it 
ceased to be a useful engagement exercise. He said that the administration 
would be retaining weekly bin collections, and also continuing to engage with 
residents. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

21. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

22. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

23. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
The Chair invited members of the public present to make any comments in 
relation to issues on the agenda as part of that item. 
 

24. BOROUGHWIDE 20MPH SPEED LIMIT - CONSULTATION RESULTS  
 
Councillor Culhane explained that on 9 June the Community Safety, 
Environment and Residents’ Services Policy and Accountability Committee 
had launched the consultation on a borough-wide 20mph speed limit with a 
lively debate. The Consultation ran until 31 July, with more than five thousand 
responses being received. The Committee now needed to consider the 
responses to the consultation and what the Council ought to do next. He 
explained that all comments made would be recorded and passed on to the 
Cabinet, should members choose to pass the report on.  
 
Councillor Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and 
Residents’ Services, explained that introducing a 20mph zone into residential 
streets was a manifesto commitment. He also said that the administration was 
committed to working with residents, and that the consultation, which TfL had 
funded, was part of this second commitment. He was pleased that 5,200 
responses had been received, which was a very large turnout for this type of 
consultation. Councillor Harcourt stressed that no decision about what would 
happen next had been taken and encouraged those present to give their 
views.  
 
Nick Ruxton-Boyle, Chief Transport Planner, said that about 30% of roads in 
the borough were already in one of seventeen ‘home zones’ and therefore 
already had a 20mph speed limit. He explained that the first consultation he 
had undertaken upon joining the council had been the introduction of the 
‘home zone’ in Wormholt. There had been 25 casualties in the five years 
before the zone was introduced, but only 17 in the last five years, a reduction 
of 30%.  
 
The council had decided to consult residents on a borough-wide 20mph 
speed limit for six main reasons. These were: 

• To address a real danger 
• To reduce deaths and injuries 
• To reduce accidents 
• To make our children and all of us healthier 
• To cut delays on the road 
• To make our neighbourhoods more pleasant. 

 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Mr Ruxton-Boyle explained that the 20mph proposal was only one of many 
projects designed to improve road safety in the borough, with engineering 
works and education programmes also planned.  
 
The first question in the consultation had been ‘Do you support a borough-
wide 20mph speed limit on roads managed by Hammersmith and Fulham 
Council?’ 45% of respondents had been in favour of the limit being applied to 
all council managed roads, with a further 26% being in favour of the limit on 
most roads (they were asked to state which ones they wanted to be exempt). 
29% of respondents were against the proposal.  Most of those who were in 
favour of the limit, but not for all roads, wanted to retain the 30mph speed limit 
on main roads. He noted however that the majority of casualties occurred on 
the main road network. Nick Ruxton-Boyle explained that there had been 
substantial opposition to the inclusion of Fulham Palace Road in a 20mph 
zone, but noted that there were high casualty figures as the road passed 
north of Lillie Road. He also said that the most popular traffic calming feature 
had been more speed humps, although he noted that lots more people had 
been against humps than for them. Mr Ruxton-Boyle explained that many 
London Boroughs had already implemented borough-wide 20mph speed 
limits, and more were being considered. He explained that recently taken 
speed surveys could be repeated to assess the impact of any changes. 
 
Councillor Dewhirst noted that Fulham Palace Road tended to have more 
accidents when traffic was moving slowly, and felt that a 20mph limit would 
not solve all of the problems on the borough’s roads. 
 
Councillor Hamilton was unhappy that additional information had been 
included in the presentation, which had not been in the report. He also felt 
that statistics had been presented in a misleading way, as 26% of 
respondents who had supported only some roads being included in a 20mph 
zone had been included in the 71% quoted on the Council’s website as 
supporting a 20mph speed limit. Officers explained that there was a majority 
in support of every single road in the borough being included in a 20mph limit. 
This majority was made up of the 45% of people who supported the limit in 
every road, and those of the 26% who supported a 20mph limit but had not 
mentioned either the individual road or type of road.  
 
David Millar, a resident, said that it was wrong for the council to be adding the 
results of open questions to those of closed questions to show majority 
support for a 20mph limit on any individual road. He wanted to discuss his 
concerns about the use of statistics with officers outside of the meeting. Mr 
Millar also felt that the idea of a 20mph limit was flawed as drivers paid 
attention to the road conditions rather than speed limits. 
 
Councillor Hamilton said that he had raised concerns about the consultation 
documents when the issue was discussed at the committee, but this had 
been too late for his concerns to be acted upon as the survey had already 
been printed. He thought that yes but not primary roads and yes but not 
primary or secondary roads ought to have been included as options for the 
public. The Chair said that there was a fine balance to be struck when writing 
a consultation, as open questions both shortened the length of a 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

questionnaire and allowed residents more freedom to express their views, but 
were more difficult to interpret than a simple closed question. He also noted 
the very high response rate which he felt might make up for some of the 
issues being raised about the consultation.  
 
Councillor Hamilton said that he would be interested to see the number of yes 
responses overlaid onto a map of the existing 20mph zones, the locations of 
accidents overlaid against existing traffic speed data, and whether those who 
were unhappy with the inclusion of Fulham Palace Road in the proposed limit 
lived near to the road. 
 
A resident said that only 3,718 of the borough’s 180,000 residents had voted 
for the proposals, and felt that the press releases had been misleading. He 
also felt that some of the information the Council had presented as fact was 
more like assumption. Louise Raisey explained that whilst she agreed that the 
headline did not say that it was 71% of those residents who had responded 
who supported the limit, this was due to the importance of brevity. She 
explained that the full article on the website made the number of people in 
favour clear; she also noted that all residents had had the opportunity to 
participate in the consultation. 
 
Rosemary Petit, a resident, explained that she felt the consultation had been 
misleading, and that this might have discouraged residents from responding. 
She also felt that residents ought to have been given a choice of measures 
available to reduce speed limits rather than being asked to suggest what they 
wanted. 
 
Lisa Freeman, a representative of students studying in the borough, said that 
she supported the 20mph limit, and that she was pleased that the council was 
looking to improve road safety. She thought that improving pedestrian and 
cycle routes was also important.  
 
Philip Barton, a resident, stated that the open questions used in the 
consultation had not been helpful. He asked whether there was any evidence 
of the impacts of 20mph limits in other boroughs, although he noted that there 
was a significant reduction in the likelihood of death or serious injury if a car 
were to hit someone at 20mph rather than 30mph. Nick Ruxton-Boyle 
explained that most other borough-wide 20mph zones were too recent to 
provide any meaningful evidence. He also noted that the other road safety 
and air quality measures used in other boroughs would make it difficult to 
disaggregate the impact of a borough-wide 20mph zone in Hammersmith and 
Fulham.  
 
A resident said that he had carried out his own research which indicated that 
most accidents took place at under 20mph; he thought that low speeds might 
make people complacent. He suggested that different speed limits could be 
applied during the day and at night, when traffic volumes were lower. He 
opposed a blanket 20mph policy, but supported targeted 20mph zones, and 
was concerned that the council had initially spoken about a limit for residential 
roads, and that this had been extended to all roads in the borough by the time 
the proposal had been consulted upon. He also raised concerns that not all 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

residents had received a copy of the consultation. The Chair said that it would 
be useful if the resident could share his research with officers.  
 
Councillor Cassidy said that in his view 20mph zones had a wider impact than 
just reducing speed limits; the areas with 20mph zones also felt more homely 
and in this way encouraged people to use the roads more sensibly. He noted 
that almost all roads in the borough had people living on them and were as 
such residential; he would be interested to see what residents of those larger, 
wider roads thought about their inclusion in a 20mph zone.  
 
Jeremy Leach, a representative of the campaign group 20’s Plenty for Us, 
said that where speed limits were reduced to 20mph the number of casualties 
reduced significantly. He said that main roads were also people’s streets, and 
that a fairer balance between motorists and other road users needed to be 
struck. Mr Leech also explained that police were now happy with 20mph limits 
being introduced without physical traffic calming measures.  
 
A resident said that a 20mph limit would not be obeyed by all drivers, and that 
this could be more dangerous, possibly causing more reckless driving as 
people tried to overtake or tailgate to encourage other drivers to break the 
speed limit. Councillor Cassidy felt that leaving some roads with higher speed 
limits might also encourage residents to think of these as fast roads, and 
therefore drive less cautiously along them. John Griffiths, a local resident, 
noted that many drivers already drove poorly, citing a recent accident as an 
example; he felt that the possibility of this continuing ought not to prevent a 
20mph limit being introduced. He noted that Community Roadwatch schemes 
could help to enforce speed limits and also thought that some drivers obeying 
the speed limit would encourage others to do so. Chris Bainbridge, Head of 
Transport Policy and Network Management explained that drivers were 
indeed likely to exceed the speed limit, and predicted average speeds of 
between 20-25mph; he noted however that drivers currently exceeded 30mph 
speed limits by a similar amount. 
 
Councillor Coleman, Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue and Resident 
Satisfaction, said that the statistics about the likelihood of a casualty dyeing 
as a result of a road accident at different speeds were a persuasive argument 
for lowering speed limits to 20mph; at 40mph the chance was 30%, at 30mph 
the chance was less than 10% and at 20mph the chance of a death was 
about 2%. He felt that problems with enforcement could be dealt with in 
innovative ways, for example, engaging with companies carrying out home 
deliveries. Councillor Coleman also noted that the response to the 
consultation had been very high and this ought not to be ignored.  
 
Lynne Seveke, Chair of H&F Cyclists, explained that 20mph zones were nicer 
places to live and had significant benefits for children and the elderly. 
Warrington Borough Council had introduced a 20mph limit and the scheme 
had paid for itself in a short period of time as the number of accidents had 
reduced drastically. She fully supported a borough-wide 20mph speed limit.  
 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Melanie Whitlock, a resident, said that she supported a reduction in the speed 
limit as it would reduce the number of more serious accidents, but noted that 
education of road users was also very important.  
 
Councillor Harcourt said that he was grateful for the discussion which had 
given him plenty to think about. He said that the points made about the 
likelihood of death at different speeds had been powerful, and that the 
success of existing zones also added weight to the argument for more of the 
borough’s roads having a 20mph speed limit. He noted the concerns people 
had raised about enforcement and whether a borough-wide 20mph speed 
limit was proportionate, although he noted that hotspots for accidents tended 
to be where main roads passed through town centres.  
 
It was 
RESOLVED 
That the committee request that the Cabinet consider the outcome of 
the consultation, noting the discussion which had been held at the 
meeting. 
 
Councillors Culhane, Cassidy and Holder voted in favour of the motion whilst 
Councillors Dewhirst and Hamilton voted against it. 
 

25. CYCLING UPDATE  
 
Richard Duffill explained that he felt the borough had shown a real 
commitment to cycling. This was he thought exemplified by the adoption of 
the new cycling strategy, his employment as cycling officer and the 
appointment of Councillor Cassidy as Cycling Champion. Now that the 
Cycling Strategy had been launched he explained that he intended to bring a 
report on progress back to the committee annually. 
 
Richard Duffill noted that Hammersmith and Fulham had one of the highest 
numbers of cycle journeys in London, and that the target to increase the 
share of journeys from 5 to 8 percent was therefore quite a challenging one. 
The infrastructure for cycling in the borough was on the whole quite good, but 
major junctions were quite intimidating and so these were key areas to 
improve. Hammersmith Gyratory had been identified by Transport for London 
as particularly bad and had been included in TfL’s better junction’s project. 
Richard Duffill also noted that there was limited funding available for 
infrastructure improvements and felt that this needed to be communicated 
better to residents. A network of quietways was being developed to 
encourage less confident cyclists to use their bikes, and to reduce the number 
of cyclists using more dangerous routes. The borough also ran cycle training 
courses and 173 adults had been trained in 2014/15 and further opportunities 
would be offered over the coming year. Bicycle maintenance classes had also 
been run for over 100 people over the past year, whilst about 600 children 
had been trained to level 2 of the bikeability scheme, meaning that they could 
ride safely on a quiet street.  
 
The Chair asked what was being done to improve the availability of bicycle 
parking in the borough. Richard Duffill explained that there were about 2,000 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

spaces in the borough with 100 having been installed in the last year. There 
were also 100 requests for more parking or new locations which he was 
dealing with. He felt that some of the borough’s cycle parking was not located 
where it was needed, and also hoped to install secure cycle units, especially 
on council estates.  
 
Councillor Dewhirst asked about difficulties in cyclists and pedestrians trying 
to use the Thames Path and asked what was being done. Richard Duffill 
explained that the cycle route along the path avoided pinch points as far as 
possible by using diversions. He hoped to improve signage of these and 
encourage their use as they were generally faster than trying to ride through 
narrower sections of the path.  
 
Councillor Dewhirst asked whether there were plans to increase the number 
of cycle hire docking stations in the borough. Chris Bainbridge explained that 
the borough was pressing TfL to install more docking stations in the borough, 
but that they were not currently keen on expanding the network. Where larger 
developments were taking place the borough sought to have docking stations 
installed as part of these.  
 
Councillor Holder asked what additional cycle training for children took place 
beyond level two of the Bikeability Scheme. Richard Duffill explained that no 
further training was currently offered, noting that this was a problem across 
the country, not just in Hammersmith and Fulham. He felt that training 
teenagers was a good opportunity to promote responsible cycling and agreed 
to raise the matter with TfL. Lynne Seveke, Chair of H&F Cyclists said that 
she would ensure that some of their led rides were targeted at teenagers.  
 
David Millar said that Cyclists riding on pavements had been raised as a 
concern at a Safer Neighbourhoods Board meeting. Councillor Harcourt 
explained that tackling illegality was a part of the borough’s cycling strategy.  
 
John Griffiths explained that he had recently met with Andrew Gilligan, the 
Mayor of London’s Cycling Commissioner, and that he was concerned about 
cycle links between Hammersmith Gyratory and Hammersmith Bridge. 
Richard Duffill explained that the issue had been raised with the TfL team 
looking at the gyratory, and that they were aware of the high volume of 
cyclists using the route. 
 
It was 
RESOLVED 
That the report be noted. 
 

26. REVISED STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY  
 
Patrick Crowley explained that this was the fifth time the Statement of 
Licensing Policy had been updated since the 2003 Licensing Act. Only minor 
changes were proposed to reflect new legislation and guidance, to enhance 
the recognition of Child Sexual Exploitation in the document and to show that 
cumulative impact zones had been reviewed.  
 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Culhane asked whether the public consultation was sufficient as 
only a very limited number of responses had been submitted. Patrick Crowley 
explained that there had been extensive public consultation but as the 
changes proposed would have limited impact and were generally technical he 
did not think that greater public involvement was required. Councillor Holder 
suggested that Safer Neighbourhood Ward meetings would be a good forum 
through which officers could get feedback on such proposals.  
 
It was 
RESOLVED 
That the committee recommend that Council approve and adopt the 
revised Statement of Licensing Policy. 
 

27. COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2015-16  
 
Dave Page introduced the report, explaining that there were 7 priorities which 
were: 

1. Adult and Youth Reoffending 
2. Violent Crime. Focus on Violence Against a Person and Violence 

Against Women and Girls (VAWG) 
3. Motor Vehicle Crime 
4. Environmental Crime: Focusing on Flytipping 
5. Anti-Social Behaviour: Focusing on Noise Nuisance 
6. Victims; including Child Sexual Exploitation 
7. Problem locations: Focusing on Town Centres 

 
Officers explained that the Safer Neighbourhood Board had been consulted 
on these priorities, and it was officers intention to consult the Community 
Safety, Environment and Residents Services Policy and Accountability 
Committee at an earlier stage in 2016.  
 
Councillor Culhane asked whether there was more that the council could do 
to help achieve the priorities. Chief Inspector Simon Causer said that the 
council already contributed greatly to the work, especially by funding 
additional officers.  
 
Councillor Hamilton referred to a map on page 9 and said that he was 
concerned by the high number of assaults in parts of Sands End. Officers 
explained that this was likely to be because of higher populations in the 
affected Lower Layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs) as a result of new 
developments. The boundaries of the LSOAs hadn’t been redrawn since 
2011.  
 
Councillor Hamilton also raised concern about the significant rise in domestic 
violence incidents in Sands End. Dave Page explained that this was likely to 
be due to better reporting, noting that the council had recently signed a new 
Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) strategy. 
 
Councillor Dewhirst noted that there was no CCTV on King Street West of the 
Premier Inn. Dave Page explained that the Council invested heavily in CCTV 
and the quality of the CCTV had been recognised by the Metropolitan Police. 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

It was hoped to increase coverage using S. 106 funding. Claire Rai noted that 
the council had invested in more mobile CCTV cameras. 
 
It was 
RESOLVED 
That the report be noted. 
 

28. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS AND WORK PROGRAMMING  
 
Councillor Hamilton asked whether the report on Emissions Linked Parking 
Permits would be brought to the PAC. Councillor Harcourt explained that the 
Commission on Air Quality would be considering the proposal before 
councillors would consider it. 
 
It was 
RESOLVED 

1) That the proposed work programme be noted.  
2) That the next meeting would be held on 18th January 2016. 

 
 

Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.30 pm 

 
 

Chairman   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Ainsley Gilbert 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2088 
 E-mail: ainsley.gilbert@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 9



 

 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Community Safety, Environment and Residents Services 
Policy and Accountability Committee 
 
18th January 2016 
 

 

Update on SuDS Schemes 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification: For Information 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected:  All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Mahmood Siddiqi - Director for Transport and 
Highways 
 

Report Author: George Warren, Flood Risk 
Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 753 6991 
E-mail: george.warren@lbhf.gov.uk 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1. This report provides a brief overview of the various Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS) projects undertaken within the Borough at the request of the Community 
Safety, Environment & Residents Services (CSERS) PAC. These are in line with the 
administration’s priority to implement SuDS on a wide-scale across the borough to 
reduce the risk and impact of flooding. The Manifesto states that: 

“We will also stop the growing concreting over of open space in order to prevent the 
increased run-off of surface water, and will insist that new parking areas and hard 
standings are rainwater permeable”. 

1.2. Projects included within this report: 

 SuDS projects completed within 2015 
o Australia Road – Bridget Joyce Square  
o Life+ Housing Projects – Queen Caroline Estate, Maystar Estate & 

Cheesemans Terrace 
o Kenmont ‘Rain’ Gardens 

 SuDS projects currently under construction 
o Counters Creek SuDS Pilot Schemes - Melina Road & Mendora Road  
o Talgarth Road 

 Future Projects 
o Stevenage Road 
o Edith Road 

Page 10

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

SuDS Projects Completed Within 2015 

1.3. Australia Road 

1.3.1. A Neighbourhood and Corridor Scheme which developed into a flagship SuDS 
Scheme. The proposals were to convert the existing road into a pedestrian and 
cyclist space with limited vehicular access for emergency and maintenance vehicles 
whilst also helping to provide a safer link between the Early Years Centre and the 
playgrounds (on opposing sides of the road). 

  

Figure 1 – Australia Road prior to works  

1.3.2. Initial neighbourhood wide consultation with residents, businesses and councillors 
was undertaken in March 2013 as part of the White City Neighbourhood scheme. 
During this neighbourhood wide consultation, the initial idea to convert part of 
Australia Road into a pedestrian space was raised by Randolph Beresford Early 
Years Centre and supported by both Team White City and the White City Residents’ 
Association. Further consultation was undertaken on-site with Team White City, 
Randolph Beresford Early Years Centre and the White City Residents Association 
between March 2013 and March 2014 as the concept design for the scheme was 
being developed. 

1.3.3. Public consultation regarding the concept design for the Australia Road pedestrian 
space was undertaken in February and March 2014. Residents responded to the 
consultation either during the public meeting held on 18 February 2014 at the White 
City Community Centre or via online and postal options. 

1.3.4. Approval to undertake the concept design and consultation for pedestrian space was 
originally granted on 2nd September 2013 (White City Neighbourhood Project - 
Significant Works, TTSCM Decision Report). Funding approval was granted for the 
overall LIP programme (through the Full Cabinet Report - TfL Annual Integrated 
Transport Investment Programme 2014/15, within which the Australia Road Scheme 
was highlighted,) on 16 September 2013. Additional spending approval and approval 
to proceed to construction from detailed design and consultation was later granted 
on 6th February 2015 (Australia Road Corridor and SuDS Scheme, Cabinet Member 
for Environment, Transport and Residents Services Decision Report). 

Page 11



 

 

 

  

Figure 2 – Artist’s Impression of Scheme  

1.3.5. The final design involved converting the existing road into a pedestrian and cyclist 
space with limited vehicular access for emergency and maintenance vehicles only, 
providing a significantly safer link from the Early Years Centre to the playground. A 
large events space for the community to use was also created beside the school 
entrance with CCTV introduced to the road and the provision of electricity and water 
points for managed use during an event. The addition of a shared community space 
and communal meeting point aims to invoke a sense of neighbourhood pride and 
community spirit. 

1.3.6. At the heart of the design are the various multi-functional SuDS features. The road 
has been constructed in permeable paving, capturing the rainfall and directing it 
below the surface to a series of bio-retention basins and raingardens. The existing 
downpipes from the Early Years Centre and Playground Centre roofs having also 
been disconnected from the combined sewer and diverted to these raingardens and 
basins. These areas have been heavily planted to help utilise the rainwater, provide 
biodiversity benefits and create an enhanced landscape for the community. Over 
2,500 plants and 50 trees with a wide variety of species ranging from grasses, bulbs 
and herbaceous perennials to Himalayan Birch trees are to be planted within these 
spaces, converting a traditional highway environment into a biophilic oasis for the 
community to enjoy. 

1.3.7. The bio-retention basins and raingardens attenuate the water prior to a controlled 
discharge to the existing combined sewer. The outlets have been designed to be 
protected from blockage, which greatly reduces the maintenance requirements. The 
hydraulic design has endeavoured to reduce flows as much as physically possible. 
Individual flow controls have been sized to restrict flows to below 1 litre per second, 
thus achieving runoff rates to the sewer less than greenfield rates up to the 1 in 30yr 
Annual Recurrence Interval (ARI) and reducing the overall annual flow volumes to 
the sewer by over 50%. The approach taken to the hydraulic design goes well 
beyond the normal remit of compliance and provides much greater benefits to the 
sewer systems. A site specific maintenance plan has been developed to ensure the 
landscape is cared for well in to the future. 

1.3.8. Monitoring equipment is due to be installed to collect data on the effectiveness of the 
SuDS systems. A full weather station will be located on the roof of the Early Years 
Centre to collect rainfall, wind and temperature data. Remote devices will be installed 
in each of the basins to monitor the soil moisture levels and at the controlled 
discharge points to monitor the flows entering the sewer. All the raw data will be 
gathered remotely and interpreted into useful performance information which will 
then be made available to interested parties.  

Page 12



 

 

 

1.3.9. Due to the high level of stakeholder involvement we have been able to engage with 
and educate the community on sustainability issues. In particular, we aim to create 
an awareness of the environmental benefits within the Early Years Centre and the 
other nine schools (two secondary, five primary and two special schools) within one 
kilometre of the site. This will be achieved through the installation of three education 
boards describing how the various SuDS features work. In addition to this members 
of the project team have attended assemblies at the local schools to further educate 
the local children about the scheme. The positive responses to date have been 
extremely encouraging from the local community. 

1.3.10. The Australia Road Scheme has become a flagship SuDS project. While runoff rates 
to the combined sewer network have been significantly reduced, we have also 
witnessed the advantages of sound community involvement. In order to maximise 
the overall achievements of the scheme, both the environmental and community 
benefits have been considered equally. The community involvement has maximised 
the environmental benefits with the agreement to incorporate runoff from both the 
Early Years Centre’s and the Playground Building’s roofs into the final design. 
Through the same process the neighbourhood has gained a more usable space with 
a much better outlook that is safer, greener and has helped to educate the 
community in the process.  

1.3.11. Hydraulic modelling carried out as part of the Surface Water Management Plan 
(SWMP) shows this section of Australia Road to be a Flooding Hotspot. The 
implementation of SuDS here will help to address this flooding issue as well as 
provide amenity and biodiversity benefits. 

1.3.12. The area has been honorifically named after the late Bridget Joyce, a childcare 
worker who worked with LBHF children for over 50 years including at the Early Years 
Centre. 

1.3.13. Physical works, undertaken by F M Conways, began in March 2015 and were 
completed in mid-October 2015. An opening ceremony occurred on 16th November 
2015 where the space was officially opened by Cllr Harcourt (Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Transport & Residents Services). Subsequently the space was used 
for the White City Christmas Fair on 11th December 2015 and the Annual W12 
Festival has already been scheduled to take place in this space from 2016 onwards. 

1.3.14. The project was funded through a combination of TfL LIP (Local Implementation 
Plans) Funding, Lead Local Flood Authority Funding and an additional contribution 
from the GLA.  

   

Page 13



 

 

 

   

Figure 3 – Australia Road post construction works 

1.4. LiFE+ 

1.4.1. LBHF officers working with Groundwork London submitted a successful funding bid 
to the European Union’s EU Life+ programme ‘Climate Proofing Social Housing 
Landscapes’ for a grant to deliver environmental improvements on housing estates 
within the borough in early 2014.  

1.4.2. The three sites identified for environmental improvements were Queen Caroline 
Estate W12, Chessman’s Terrace W14, and the Maystar Estate (Cyril Thatcher / 
Richard Knight / Eric Macdonald Houses) SW6. 

1.4.3. The improvements to be delivered through the programme are: 

 2,500m2 of enhanced green infrastructure 

 25% increase in permeable surfaces 

 20,000m3 of water retention capacity 

 600 trees planted 

 600m2 of green roofs 

 400m2 of food growing capacity 

 10 rain water harvesting systems 

1.4.4. Groundwork London and LBHF Housing have led on the public consultation, with 
drop in sessions held on a regular basis to keep the residents of the estates updated 
with progress. 

1.4.5. Capacity building sessions have also been organised as part of the project to 
educate staff within the housing estates teams about the benefits of Green 
Infrastructure SuDS and how they should be maintained. 

1.4.6. Works began on site at Maystar Estate (Cyril Thatcher / Richard Knight /Eric 
MacDonald) in March 2014 with extensive landscaping to incorporate SuDS features 
such as swales, raingardens and bio-retention basins. A large scale green roof was 
also installed on Richard Knight House, which has tied in with planned maintenance 
to the roof for efficiency. 

Page 14



 

 

 

  

   

Figure 4 - Richard Knight House (Maystar) 

1.4.7. Work has been completed at Queen Caroline Estate, with downpipes disconnected, 
swales & raingardens excavated and planted and new features installed including 
community planting beds. 

  

Page 15



 

 

 

  

Figure 5 – Queen Caroline Estate  

1.4.8. Works have recently commenced at Cheesemans Terrace.  

 

Figure 6 - Cheesemans Terrace 

1.4.9. Most of the physical works have been complete at QCE and Maystar however there 
are still training sessions to be completed and the physical works at Cheesemans 
Terrace are still ongoing. The project is on course to be completed in March 2016. 

1.4.10. The overall 3 year programme budget is €1,615,636. The Council has made 
provision within the Housing Revenue Account business plan to fund at current 
exchange rates a sum of €441k (£359k) from within the Housing Revenue Account 
over 3 years. Additionally, the Council will incur a further €316k (£257k) of 
expenditure and this will be met from the EU Life grant. Groundwork will contribute 
€367k (£299k) from its own resources and a further €492k (£401k) of expenditure will 
be funded from the EU Life grant. This equates to LBHF leveraging a total of circa 
£957k of external funding towards the proposed projects. 

1.4.11. This project recently won the Sustainable Water Industry Group (SWIG) Award for 
Urban Greening. 

Page 16



 

 

 

1.5. Kenmont Gardens 

1.5.1. A Neighbourhood and Corridor Scheme which developed to incorporate SuDS. The 
area was previously carriageway and had subsequently been pedestrianised. The 
carriageway was still in existence but had been closed off with bollards. The area 
was raised and partially landscaped, with three trees planted, but it was in general a 
fairly low grade landscaped area.  

  

Figure 7 – Kenmont Gardens prior to works  

1.5.2. The design significantly improved this space through the introduction of an ovoid 
area of seating surrounded by hard and soft landscaping. Lighting was also improved 
and a sustainable drainage system put in place. The SuDS scheme is a retrofit to the 
existing drainage system of a deep combined storm and foul sewer fed by gullies 
that were formerly in the carriageway. 

1.5.3. The community were involved throughout the project, with concept designs sent out 
for public consultation in September 2014, from which a positive response was 
received and a preferred option selected. In addition to this a consistent dialogue 
was maintained with College Park Residents Association (CoPRA) and Kenmont 
Primary School. 

1.5.4. The scheme includes the following SuDS / flood risk reduction elements: 

 Permeable Paving  Geo-Cellular Storage 

 Raingardens  Controlled Sewer Release  

1.5.5. The design restricts runoff to greenfield for events up to the 1 in 10yr ARI with 
exceedence routes to existing gullies during larger events. 

Page 17



 

 

 

 

Figure 8 - Education Poster for Project 

1.5.6. Work began on site on 9th January 2015 and the main physical works were 
completed on 31st March 2015.  

1.5.7. CoPRA and Kenmont Primary School were also heavily involved in the latter stages, 
with pupils of the school creating a series of clay tiles, with the supervision of a 
professional potter, which were installed around the new ovoid. The cost of the tiles 
were met through a combination of fundraising by the school and a contribution from 
the council. A maintenance fund has also been setup by the Primary School for the 
tiles, reducing the financial burden on the council for any future damages to these 
pieces.  

1.5.8. In addition to this members of the project team presented to the pupils of Kenmont 
Primary School at an assembly on the 24th March 2015, providing a brief 
explanation on the water cycle, how the scheme works and the benefits it will bring to 
the community. Following this a community planting event occurred on the 4th June 
2015 (see Figure 9). 

1.5.9. The project was funded through a combination of TfL LIP Funding and Lead Local 
Flood Authority Funding.  

Page 18



 

 

 

   

Figure 9 – Community Planting Event 

   

   

Figure 10 – Kenmont Gardens Post Construction  

Page 19



 

 

 

2. SuDS projects currently under construction 

2.1. Counters Creek SuDS Retrofit Pilot Schemes 

2.1.1. This is a Thames Water Utilities Limited (TWUL) project to trial the installation of 
SuDS within the highway with a focus on their flood risk benefits. Three streets were 
selected, two of which are within LBHF, these are Mendora Road and Melina Road. 
Note that a similar scheme is being proposed for RBKC’s Arundel Gardens. 

2.1.2. Mendora Road will involve the installation of permeable paving within the parking 
bays on each side of the road, with underground storage provided by geo-cellular 
structures on one side and aggregate on the other, with a flow control outlet to the 
existing sewer.  

 

Figure 11 – Artist’s impression of Mendora Road  

2.1.3. Melina Road will involve the installation of four rain gardens along the pedestrianised 
stretch of the road, from outside the entrance to the Hammersmith Academy to the 
large area of hardstanding in front of Cathnor Park.  

2.1.4. The raingarden planting has been specifically selected to complement the existing 
planting within Cathnor Park.  

2.1.5. Below the raingarden planting will be geo-cellular storage with a controlled outlet to 
the sewer. 

Page 20



 

 

 

 

Figure 12 - Artist’s impression of Melina Road 

2.1.6. The schemes include the following SuDS / flood risk reduction elements: 

 Permeable Paving  Geo-Cellular Storage 

 Raingardens  Controlled Sewer Release  

2.1.7. The storage in both cases has sufficient capacity to store surface water runoff from 
this area for an event up to the 100 year event plus an allowance for climate change 
(+30%). This will provide an increased flood protection to the immediate area as well 
as freeing up significant capacity within the combined sewer network for areas 
downstream to potentially drain to. 

2.1.8. The SuDS pilot project communication and consultation process, led by TWUL 
throughout, began in June 2012 and has taken a twin-track approach to community 
engagement, undertaking a wide community education and engagement programme 
with a more targeted engagement of residents specifically on the shortlisted streets 
and final pilot streets. Following evening consultation workshops in December 2012 
at both town halls for residents and community representatives, a more focussed 
street-specific consultation exercise was carried out during 2013. As the design was 
refined regular drop in sessions were organised, giving residents and interested 
parties an opportunity to view the designs in more detail and speak with the project 
team. LBHF officers were in attendance at all sessions. The latest sessions took 
place at local venues on the 12th and 13th December 2015 with further sessions 
programmed for the 6th and 7th January 2016. 

2.1.9. TWUL are funding the construction of both projects, which are to be carried out by 
LBHF Highway’s Principal Framework Contractors, including the monitoring and 
maintenance of the installations for a period of 24 months post completion of the 
construction works. The installation of the SuDS at both sites will come at no cost to 
the Council, with officers time also funded by TWUL for the project. The capital costs 
for both schemes is forecast to be just over one million pounds. Once this 24 month 
period has expired, the  monitoring and maintenance responsibilities will lie with the 
Council thereafter.  

2.1.10. Works for both schemes are due to commence on January 11th, 2016. Mendora 
Road has an estimated works programme of 32 weeks. The Melina Road works 
have an estimated works programme of 12 weeks. 

2.2. Talgarth Road 

2.2.1. This is a predominantly Air Quality focused project with elements of SuDS 
incorporated with a genuine view to repeatability. 

Page 21



 

 

 

2.2.2. Plans have been developed for the installation of green infrastructure along the 
stretch of shared space along Talgarth Road between Butterwick and Shortlands to 
the north of the Hammersmith Flyover. The proposed design intends to reduce the 
exposure of pedestrians and cyclists to the poor air quality in this area of the 
Hammersmith Town Centre whilst incorporating Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS) and providing a safe and secure setting. 

2.2.3. A tall grass, Miscanthus, has been chosen as the main barrier plant.  The plant will 
grow to approximately 1.8m in height and act as a barrier to traffic emissions.  It is a 
hearty plant that will be cut back once in the Spring.  The grass is considered light 
and airy and not a hard, impenetrable border to ensure that people using the site do 
not feel enclosed. 

2.2.4. A border of Euphorbia and Geraniums will be planted between the Miscanthus and 
the bicycle path.  Narrow, shallow, raised beds planted with Hebe will be placed 
along the northern edge of the pavement along the border of the Novotel building. 
These plants are robust and will remain year-round.  

2.2.5. Air quality monitors will be placed on either side of the grass to measure particulate 
matter and nitrogen dioxide levels on the road side and on the pedestrian side of the 
installation simultaneously to demonstrate the extent of air quality benefits from the 
greening. 

2.2.6. Some trees along this stretch are in a poor state and need to be replaced and others 
need to be removed altogether with new trees to be placed nearby to facilitate the 
movement of the bicycle path.   

2.2.7. A 26m section of the roadside planting has been designed to accept runoff from the 
highways and footway, thus reducing the surface water flow to the combined sewer 
and providing additional capacity within the already over capacity Counters Creek 
Catchment. The bio-retention basin will have an engineered sub-surface construction 
to a greater depth than the other stretches of planting in order to provide below 
ground attenuation for the surface water flows with a controlled release to the sewer. 
Exceedance flows, during extreme events, have been designed to be directed 
towards the existing road gully.  

2.2.8. The bio-retention basin will include the same plant species as the rest of the 
roadside planted areas to pilot how these species perform when experiencing runoff 
from the surrounding area compared to conventional planting beds. Should the 
species thrive in this environment then the intention is to repeat this along other 
stretches of highway within the borough to help tackle both air quality and flooding 
issues. 

2.2.9. This project is funded through a combination of TfL LIP Funding, the London Mayor’s 
Air Quality Fund (MAQF), Section 106 Funding, Lead Local Flood Authority Funding 
and private funding via the Hammersmith Business Improvement District (BID).   

2.2.10. Full approval for the project was granted in October 2015 by the Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Transport & Residents Services and construction commenced on 6th 
January 2016 and are due to be completed within 6 weeks.  

Page 22



 

 

 

3. Future Projects 

3.1. Stevenage Road 

3.1.1. This scheme was included within the 2015/16 Environmental Improvements LIP 
funding submission.  

3.1.2. It is proposed to adapt the existing pedestrianised section of Stevenage Road beside 
Rowberry Mead. Surface water currently flows from the existing footway in the centre 
of Stevenage road and enters the combined sewer through the existing gullies and 
connection arrangements. The selected proposal involves the installation of 
“Stockholm Tree Pits”. The proposed tree pits are located between fourteen existing 
trees. “Stockholm Tree Pits” are essentially long pits with a raingarden on top and 
angular stone underneath- through which the tree roots are able to grow. This allows  
the tree pit to take on more runoff surface water. Such tree pits should achieve a 
positive environmental and social effect. 

3.1.3. The proposed scheme is designed to re-direct 100%  of surface water away from 5 
existing gullies and capture runoff from a catchment area of approximately 840m². 
The proposal will divert water into the raingardens rather than the gullies, which will 
remain as an exceedance route. It is expected that in small to medium rainfall 
events, all of the surface runoff will be contained within the raingarden and tree pits 
to be discharged through infiltration and evapo-transpiration. In heavier rainfall 
events a buried overflow pipe will carry excess water to the combined sewer system, 
though this will be a greatly reduced quantity and as the water will be detained and 
released more gradually into the system, the contribution to downstream flood risk 
from this catchment will be greatly reduced. 

3.1.4. The rain gardens will be densely planted with low maintenance grasses and shrubs, 
capable of thriving in the required conditions. This will provide visual appeal and a 
greener outlook for local residents. The exact planting for this scheme is still to be 
determined. 

  

Figure 13 –Stevenage Road Visualisation (Before & After) 

3.1.5. The scheme is to be funded through a combination of TfL LIP Funding and Lead 
Local Flood Authority Funding. 

3.1.6. It is proposed to consult on the scheme in late January 2015 with a view to 
undertaking construction within the Spring 2016. Construction is currently estimated 
to take 6 weeks. 

 

Page 23



 

 

 

3.2. Edith Road 

3.2.1. This scheme was also included within the 2015/16 Environmental Improvements LIP 
funding submission.  

3.2.2. The selected proposal involves the installation of a raingarden within an existing 
unused hatched area at the ends of the angled parking bays near the corner of 
Glazbury Rd and Edith Rd. Currently, surface water flows from the existing Edith 
Road carriageway and enters the combined sewer through the existing road gully 
and connection arrangements. The proposal will divert water away from the 
traditional gully inlet and into the raingarden. It is expected that during frequent and 
moderately heavy rainfall events, all of the surface runoff will be contained within the 
raingarden to be discharged through infiltration and evapo-transpiration. In heavier 
rainfall events a buried overflow pipe will carry excess water to the combined sewer 
system, though this will be at a reduced rate and quantity and as the water will be 
retained and released gradually into the system it will reduce the contribution to 
downstream flood risk from this catchment. 

3.2.3. The proposed scheme is designed to re-direct 100% of surface water away from the 
existing gully and capture runoff from a catchment area of up to 160m². This will 
provide improved flood protection for the immediate area as well as freeing up 
additional capacity within the combined sewer network for areas downstream to drain 
to. 

3.2.4. The raingarden will be densely planted with low maintenance grasses and shrubs, 
capable of thriving in the required conditions. This will provide visual appeal and a 
greener outlook for local residents. The exact planting for this scheme is still to be 
determined. 

  

Figure 14 – Edith Road Visualisation (Before & After) 

3.2.5. The scheme is to be funded through a combination of TfL LIP Funding and Lead 
Local Flood Authority Funding. 

3.2.6. It is proposed to consult on the scheme in late January 2015 with a view to 
undertaking construction within the Spring 2016. Construction is currently estimated 
to take 2 weeks. 

Page 24



 

 

 

4. Summary 

4.1. This report demonstrates that we are fully committed to the implementation of SuDS 
and are aspiring to become the flagship London Borough for this. We believe that 
this not only helps support the desire for LBHF to become the “Best Council” but it 
also aligns with the administration’s Manifesto pledge which states that: 

“We will also stop the growing concreting over of open space in order to prevent the 
increased run-off of surface water, and will insist that new parking areas and hard 
standings are rainwater permeable”. 

4.2. In order to make these projects possible we have utilised funding from the Lead 
Local Flood Authority (LLFA) which is provided to the Council by the Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA).  

4.3. Through the construction of these SuDS projects valuable knowledge and skills have 
been developed within the Council and it’s framework contractors which will be 
carried forward to future projects. We are also using these experiences to better 
inform the LLFA’s comments to planning applications’ Sustainable Drainage 
Strategies, a requirement for all major planning applications as of April 2015. 

4.4. We are developing a list of potential SuDS opportunities within the Borough and are 
working hard to align them with other programmed works to ensure efficiency is 
achieved. 

 

Page 25



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Community Safety, Environment and Residents 
Services Policy and Accountability Committee 
 
18th January 2016  

Wormholt Park Landscape Refurbishment Project 2015-16 

Open Report 

Classification: For Information 
 
Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: Wormholt and White City 

Accountable Director: David Page 

Report Author:  
Penny Brenan 
Parks Projects Officer 
Leisure and Parks Service 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 7598 4467 
E-Mail: penny.brenan@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report provides a progress summary of the landscape improvement works 
currently taking place at Wormholt Park. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

For the committee to note the work taking place at Wormholt Park. 
 
 

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

3.1. The project is currently in week eleven of a 22 week construction programme. 
Works on site began on 16th October 2015 and are scheduled to be completed 
by 18th March 2016, weather and contingencies permitting.  
 

3.2. Permission to proceed with the contract award was granted by the Cabinet 
Member for Environment, Leisure and Transport (Councillor Harcourt) on 3rd 
September 2015 and the CMD report was signed on this date. 

 

Page 26

Agenda Item 6



 
Plan of the landscape proposals for Wormholt park  

 
3.3. Works started at the Bloom development end of the park and have thus far 

included thinning out of existing shrub beds, rationalisation of existing shrubs 
and cultivation of beds in preparation for new planting scheme; excavation and 
removal of the remains of the Janet Adegoke Centre; and removal of the former 
tennis court and the over-grown former bowling green. 
 

3.4. The contractors are currently constructing the new footpath network, 
playgrounds and developing the new planting beds at this end of the park. 
 

 
Edging and sub-base for the new adventure playground. 

Bryony Road 

MUGA 

Large Central Lawn 

Family Play Area 

Adventure Play 

Entrance Area 

Rose & Bulb Planting 

Dog Run 

Sawley Road 

Page 27



 
3.5. In mid-January the south west corner of the park will also be fenced off in order 

for the contractor to begin work on the new park entrance, Multi Use Games 
Area (MUGA) and footpath works.  
 

3.6. Repair works have also started on the boundary railings which will be re-painted 
in February-March, weather permitting. 

 
3.7. Due to wet ground conditions and an unanticipated increase in the lead in time 

for the play equipment, the project is two weeks behind schedule. However, 
because of the float built into the original schedule, the contractor is still 
confident that the works will be completed on time. Project progress meetings 
take place with between client and contractor once every four weeks and the 
contractor provides the project manager with a weekly project update by email. 

 
3.8. The project is still within budget, however, some unanticipated additional 

drainage works adjacent to the Bloom development will accrue additional costs 
(see part 4). 

 
4. RISKS AND ISSUES  

4.1. Due to the complexity of the works next to the Bloom development and the 
likelihood of unknown construction issues in this vicinity which could have an 
impact on the project’s schedule and budget, it seemed sensible to start the 
works at this end of the park. 

 
4.2. Items we were concerned about included the nature and extent of the buried 

remains of the Janet Adegoke Centre and the foundation and ground conditions 
of the former bowling green. Both these items have involved far more excavation 
and removal works than had been anticipated and we are very grateful that the 
contractor has managed to accommodate them within the project’s existing 
budget. 

 
4.3. Excavation works have also exposed the concrete slab of the Bloom 

development’s underground car park. The car park was originally within the 
Bloom’s boundary line, but following a land swap to accommodate the 
construction of the development, the line has been moved east and now a two 
metre wide strip of the underground car park is within the park’s footprint (we are 
seeking confirmation of permissions for this this from property and legal 
colleagues). 

 
4.4. We are currently trying to ascertain as to why the paving stops short of the full 

width of the concrete slab. The remaining 1.2m strip has been covered over with 
a 200mm depth of soil, which is too shallow to plant in and not deep enough to 
protect the structure itself from possible damage. 

 
4.5. The Bloom development also appears to have drainage issues and we are 

concerned about the amount of water that is collecting on the exposed concrete 
slab and draining into the park (see photograph below). To avoid delays to the 
project’s programme, the architect has designed a simple soak away drainage 

Page 28



system (which the contractor is producing an estimate for) whilst we seek legal 
advice. 

 

 
Water collecting on the exposed concrete slab of the underground car park. 

 
 

5. CONSULTATION 

5.1. Since 2011, a wide range of public consultation events have been carried out by 
a number of organisations including the council, the Friends of Wormholt Park, 
Groundwork London and Levitt Bernstien Architects. These have included: 

 

 Friends of Wormholt Park, Survey of Park Users – July 2011 

 Groundwork West London – Stakeholders Survey and Report, funded by 
LBHF and the Big Lottery - September 2011. 

 Levitt Bernstein, Stakeholders Survey – August 2012. 

 LBHF Online Survey – 10th-29th October 2012. 

 Levitt Bernstein, Display of plans and illustrations of proposals for the park, 
Wormholt Village Fair – 5th July 2014. 

 Levitt Bernstein / LBHF regular design review meetings with the Friends of 
Wormholt Park 2011 – ongoing.  

 Levitt Bernstein / LBHF, Final Public Consultation Meeting – 18th August 2014. 
 

5.2. Stakeholders include regular park users, parks police, community and residential 
groups, Friends of Wormholt Park, Hammersmith and Fulham disability forum, 
Wormholt Primary, Canberra Primary and Phoenix High School, Parents Active 
and Mencap. 

 
5.3. Community involvement remains strong even after the initial project 

establishment period. Currently we have three project elements with active 
public engagement: 

 
5.3.1. Working with a wide range of stake holders including the Friends of Wormholt 

Park (FOWP) and Wormholt Residents Association, a Stage Two Expression of 

Page 29



Interest for funding for the proposed tennis court was submitted to Sports 
England on 11th of November. We will hear the outcome on the 8th of January 
2016.  
 

5.3.2. Hayley Wedgebury, a parent linked to the Parents Active group is currently 
fundraising for a wheelchair swing for one of the playgrounds.  

 
5.3.3. Following a design competition at Wormholt Primary School, we are pleased to 

report that we are now in the process of commissioning artist and sculptor Joel 
Parks to create the winning Wormholt Dragon play sculpture for the under-fives 
playground.  

 

Artist’s impression of the Wormholt Park Dragon play sculpture 
 

The sculpture will be made from beach tree trunk sections and decorated with 
pewter and coloured acrylics. Not only is Joel a very talented artist, but he is 
also a local resident and is very keen to be involved in his local park. West 
London Housing Partnership has contributed £5000 towards the cost of the 
artwork.  

 
5.4. The FOWP are currently looking at Western Riverside Environmental Funding 

for possible wildlife projects such as community bulb planting event, creation of a 
wildlife corridor along the parks western boundary and other wild life ideas.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
 

No 
Description of 

background papers 
Name and number of 

holder of file/copy 
Department/ 

location 

1 N/A   

 

Page 31



 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Community Safety, Environment and Residents Services 
Policy and Accountability Committee 
 
18th January 2016 
 

 

FUTURE WASTE AND STREET CLEANSING SERVICES – INVOLVING THE CITIZEN – 
CONSULTATION OUTCOMES 

Report of the Director for Cleaner, Greener and Cultural Services  
 

Open Report 
 

Classification:  For PAC Review & Comment 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: (Sue Harris, Director for Cleaner, Greener & Cultural Services, 
Environment, Leisure, and Residents’ Services) 
 

Report Author: Kathy May 
Head of Waste and Street Enforcement 
 
Lesley Gates 
Contract Monitoring and Enforcement Area Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 7341 5616 
E-mail: kathy.may@rbkc.gov.uk 

 
 

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 A report to this Committee on 21 September set out proposals to consult with 

residents about waste collection and street cleansing service provision. The aim 
was to consult with residents and to discuss their views on service delivery and 
the ways in which the council could deliver significant financial savings over the 
next three years, whilst continuing to provide quality services. As a result, a 
waste, recycling and street cleansing consultation was established online. It 
should be noted that the scenarios in the consultation are not currently factored 
in as Council policy or service changes, but have been consulted with the public 
so as to gauge their view in case options need to be explored in the future. 
 

1.2 The consultation was open for 40 days, a slightly reduced timescale due to 
misleading publicity that led to early closure of the survey. 

1.3 Headline results from 654 respondents included: 

 90% of respondents satisfied with their waste collections 

 80% of respondents are happy with collection frequency 

 46% of respondents are ‘fairly satisfied or above’ with the cleanliness of their 
street 

 30% are dissatisfied with their local street scene; dog fouling and litter are seen 
as the two biggest concerns 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

 85% of respondents would support authorised officers in issuing Fixed Penalty 
Notices (FPNs) to those who drop litter 

 60% would rather the council remove dumping with no investigation so as to 
achieve quicker clearance 

 97% of respondents stated that they recycle 

 More recycling bins, fines for those who do not recycle, and improved 
education on recycling were the most popular suggestions as to how the 
Council could enable and encourage residents to recycle more. 

 The profile of the respondents do not necessarily reflect the audience requiring 
the highest level of engagement from the Council, both to reduce recycling 
contamination and dumping, and increase recycling. Further thought will be 
given to how officers can communicate with these hard-to-reach, often 
transient, groups.   

 
1.4 Action plans are in place and continue to be developed to tackle these issues. 

 
1.5 In November, there were 500 reports of dumping of which 358 were  
  investigated.  264 actions were taken which resulted in 9 FPNs and 2  
  prosecutions. 

 
1.6 On Lakeside Road specifically, there have been 44 investigations undertaken 
  and four fixed penalty notices issued by officers. 
 
2.  RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That this report be noted and consideration given to the results of the consultation 
and how residents can assist the Council in reducing dumping and increasing 
recycling.  

 
2.2 Members’ views are requested on the actions listed in the table in Section 4.3. 
 
 
3.  BACKGROUND  

 
3.1 The aim of the survey was to consult with residents and to discuss their views on 

service delivery and the ways in which the council could deliver significant financial 
savings over the next three years, whilst delivering quality services.  

3.2 The consultation was carried out online through Citizen Space. The scope of the 
consultation was as follows: 

 

Refuse & Recycling: Street Cleansing: 

Includes 

 Household waste and 
recycling kerbside collections 

 Second collections 

 Recycling sack delivery 
service 

 Litter collection 

 Clear all service  

 Rubbish dumping 
 

 
3.3 The consultation took account of the following desired service outcomes: 

 An increase in recycling levels and reduction in residual waste 

 Maintaining resident satisfaction in waste and recycling above the London 
average 

 Delivery of a service that provides a clean and safe area in which to live 

Page 33



 

 

 

 A customer focused service delivery model where data intelligence helps 
develop an effective front-line service  

 Deliver service efficiencies to realise future financial savings  
 

3.4 There were 654 responses, which is above the 0.5%-1.0% of household responses 
required by the consultation team (which is 550 responses) for ‘meaningful’ 
analysis.  
 

3.5 The majority of respondents were long term residents (having lived in the borough 
for 11+ years) with 90% owning their home outright or with a mortgage. 
Respondents living in a house accounted for 75% of responses, with the remaining 
respondents living in flats (24%) or other (1%). It is of interest that the profile of the 
respondents do not necessarily reflect the audience requiring the highest level of 
engagement from the Council, both to reduce recycling contamination and 
dumping, and increase recycling. Further thought will be given to how officers can 
communicate with these hard-to-reach, often transient, groups.   

 
3.6 When asked to rank potential service reductions in order of preference (from most 

preferred to least preferred) respondents indicated that, from the choices given, 
they would be most comfortable with a reduced frequency of Smart Sack 
deliveries, followed by once weekly road sweeping, rubbish dumps removed within 
one week (as opposed to within 48 hours), with a reduction to a borough wide 
once-weekly kerbside waste and recycling collection as the least popular option. It 
should be mentioned that, whilst annual sack deliveries was the most preferred 
change in service, earlier in the consultation around 70% of respondents said they 
were not in favour of annual deliveries. It should also be noted that the above 
scenarios are not currently factored in as potential service changes, but have been 
consulted with the public so as to gauge their view in case options need to be 
explored in the future. 

 
3.7  A full copy of the consultation report is included in Appendix 1 
 
4.   ISSUES AND PROPOSALS  

4.1 The consultation was open for 40 days, a slightly reduced timescale due to 
misleading publicity that led to early closure of the survey. 

 
4.2 Maintaining weekly refuse and recycling collections, tackling dog fouling, littering, 

and quick removal of rubbish dumps were the key messages coming across from 
the survey results. 

 
4.3 Action plans are in place and continue to be developed to tackle these issues. In 

summary, the key actions that are being implemented are summarised in the table 
below: 

 

 

PROPOSALS ACTIONS 
TARGET 

DATE 

1 Look at legal 
responsibilities 
around waste 
storage and the 
feasibility of a levy. 

Looking at what responsibilities Landlords, Letting 
Agents and Tenants have in safely storing and disposing 
of waste from rental properties. To check with legal. 
Checked with Environmental Health and any licensing of 
rented properties under the scheme is HMO Licencing, 
not Registration. Reports that Newham have extended 
the scheme to all rented properties are being 

Nov-15 

Page 34



 

 

 

 

PROPOSALS ACTIONS 
TARGET 

DATE 

investigated. This is covered in Part 2 of the Housing Act 
2004, in particular Section 55-76 of that Act. 

2 Place leaflets in 
lobbies. 

Revisiting to see if a new leaflet is available. Develop a 
new leaflet focused on education about waste 
presentation and bulky waste collection. 

Jan-16 

3 Check with 
Planning, 
Environmental 
Health and Housing 
over waste storage 
provision and 
landlords to provide 
black bags 

Ongoing work with various Departments and sections to 
identify HMOs, RSLs and statutory obligations under 
legislation.  Points of contact being established within 
each housing area. This is again a licensing issue of 
rented premises. The way to instruct landlords to provide 
black bags is to licence the premises, under Section 55-
76 of the Housing Act 2004. This means that a property 
must be licensed under an HMO licence. LBHF  licensing 
only covers properties with 5 or more people from more 
than 1 household over 3 floors.   Officers are working 
with internal Housing colleagues, housing associations 
and private landlords to provide advice and improve 
waste presentation, as well as with Planning to ensure 
any changes take account of, and provide, adequate 
waste storage. A new advisory letter is being developed 
and will be distributed in January 2016 to households 
where waste presentation is an issue. Officers will pass 
these letters onto to colleagues in Housing, for Council 
tenants and to Private Sector Housing with regards 
HMOs, to distribute to key premises. Officers are also 
looking at this Council’s standard tenancy agreements 
and have identified several areas where waste 
presentation and dumping feature with regards to 
tenants’ behaviour and potential breach of the 
agreement.   

Nov-15 

4 Look at increasing 
the fly tip message 
through estate 
agents, cleaners 
and childminders 

To focus on council tax given that estate agents are not 
the last point of contact for residents. 

Apr-16 

5 Check position 
regarding Resource 
London project on 
waste storage. 

LBHF Planning has confirmed they will discuss waste 
matters with applicants and where appropriate seek 
facilities within schemes using development 
management powers, such as planning conditions 
attached to planning consents.  To help, the council has 
adopted additional planning guidance on the storage of 
refuse and recyclables which supplements the 
development plan policies. This guidance looks at a 
variety of issues, including external and internal storage, 
and is included in the council’s Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Document.  
The emerging Local Plan continues to include policies on 
sustainable waste management and will be supported by 
a revised Planning Guidance SPD where necessary. The 
next public consultation on the Local Plan will be in the 
New Year. 

Ongoing 

Page 35



 

 

 

 

PROPOSALS ACTIONS 
TARGET 

DATE 

6 Revisit collection 
day signage.  
Request for signage 
used in RBKC. 

Previously used one sided signs and replaced with tri-
fold to attract attention. RBKC signage sent to 
communications section and awaiting redesigned draft 

Jan-16 

7 Review weekend 
enforcement 

Currently recruiting agency staff to work on night time 
enforcement.  On target to commence in January which 
will indicate potential future options for the Council. 

Jan-16 

8 Utilise the ‘Gold 
Standard’ option  

The Gold Standard relates to the condition of properties 
let by private Landlords. For example, double glazing, 
decent carpets, up to date kitchen and bathrooms and 
tenant handbook. Waste specifically does not appear in 
this but there is an expectation for the property to have a 
clean and presentable exterior where waste presentation 
could be included. Officers will see if Private Housing 
officers can pursue this.  

Jan-16 

9 Produce sample 
leaflet/sticker to 
empower residents 
to issue, with a 
potential strapline 
"we live here too".   

Stickers have been designed, approved and produced.  
Guidance letter, to accompany stickers on how they are 
to be used also produced.  To be distributed first week of 
January (to avoid any complications arising from 
Christmas collection days). 

Jan-16 

10 Produce A-boards A-board signage to alert flytippers has been installed on 
Lakeside Road.  Initial indications are that there has 
been no flytipping in front of the signs. 

Dec-15 

11 Use CCTV in 
hotspots 

Officers to produce information about use of CCTV.  
Second CCTV camera now installed on Lakeside Road 
and images are reviewed by enforcement officers. 

Nov-15 

12 Include dumping 
information in 
Council tax. 

Officers have previously included this and are arranging 
for a revised version. This is to capture transient 
population. Communications team advised of 
requirement, and to include in Council tax 
documentation.  This was included in March 2015 and 
will be distributed again in March 2016. 

Mar-15 
and  

Mar-16 

13 Members lobby 
Mayor of London to 
issue a message 
around dumping 

Officers to prepare briefing note. Jan-16 

14 Educate via schools Check with WRWA if rubbish dumping and littering 
messages are included in work with schools. Officers to 
check if Groundwork London assists with education in 
schools about rubbish issues. 

Jan-16 

15 Requested to use 
sponsorship to help 
with costs 

Revisit the option of sponsored recycling sacks. Liaising 
with Commercial waste team to see if this is something 
they would do. 

Apr-16 

Page 36



 

 

 

 

PROPOSALS ACTIONS 
TARGET 

DATE 

16 Find out about the 
registration of 
landlord’s scheme 
and how waste 
management could 
be included. 

See no. 3 above. Any licensing of rented properties 
comes under the  HMO Licencing Scheme. Newham 
have extended the scheme to all rented properties. This 
is covered in Section 55-76 of Part 2 of the Housing Act 
2004. This means that a property must be licensed under 
an HMO licence, which is different to what currently 
operates in LBHF (see 3 above).  

Dec-15 

17 Use of Covert 
Monitoring 
Operations 

Officers investigating the feasibility of conducting covert 
operations due to the sensitivities which surround this. 

Feb-16 

18 Issue Sec 87. 
notices to be issued 

Sec. 46 notices issued in July but the legislation has 
since been revoked.  Best practice is to serve fresh 
notices every six months. Sec 87 notices being drafted 
for issuing in January. 

Jan-16 

 

4.4 It is worth noting that a new national strategy to tackle litter is due to be published 
this year as part of a coordinated attempt to clean up the country. At the moment, 
Fixed Penalty Notice fines to discharge liability (FPNs) for littering are set locally by 
councils and range from £50 to £80, with a default level of £75 if the council does 
not specifically set its own amount. The level of fine currently applied in LBHF is 
£80. The consultation from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government will recommend higher FPNs of up to £150. The minimum fine could 
also double from £50 to £100. Officers are currently researching the degree to 
which this could help with rubbish dumping, as littering legislation is generally only 
used for small items of litter, but can potentially be used for up to one bag of waste.  

 

5.   CONSULTATION 

5.1 Details of the consultation process have been highlighted above. 
 
6.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1   There are no direct legal implications for the purposes of this report. In so far  as 
citizen proposals set out in the table at paragraph 4.3 raise legal  issues these are 
addressed in the “Actions” column. 

 
6.2 Implications completed by Kevin Beale, Principal Social Care Lawyer, LBHF   

Telephone 0208 753 2740. 
 
7.  FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. There are no financial implications as a direct result of seeking residents views on 
the delivery of waste collection and street cleansing services. Costs associated 
with the actions being progressed under section 4.3 (notably the production and 
distribution of promotional and educational material) are being funded from existing 
revenue budgets. Additional enforcement is being trialled and is being funded by 
one off waste disposal underspends this year. Subject to the success of the trail, 
permanent funding may be requested at a later date. 
 

Page 37



 

 

 

7.2. Any changes to fees and charges will need to be agreed by the lead Cabinet 
Member. 
 

7.3. Implications completed by Kellie Gooch, Head of Finance. Telephone 0208 753 
2203. 
 
 

8.  IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

8.1 In terms of trying to tackle dumped rubbish, this issue is not confined to domestic 
properties. There will be increased focus on tackling unpaid-for dumped 
commercial waste. This is because the Environmental Protection Act 1990 requires 
businesses to pay to dispose of their waste through a licenced waste carrier. Many 
businesses comply with this legislative requirement. However some do not, and 
the tax payer ends up paying instead, as this element of the waste stream is 
collected by the Council’s contractor and the Council pays for its disposal. Officers 
are in the process of engaging with businesses to let them know that there will be 
increased focus in this area. This gives businesses a chance to arrange the 
appropriate agreement with a company of their choice prior to potential 
enforcement action.    

 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. N/A   

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Consultation responses  
 

Page 38



Page 1

Waste, Street Cleansing and Street Scene Consultation: Summary report

This report was created on Tuesday 22 December 2015 at 11:45.

The consultation ran from 01/10/2015 to 08/11/2015.

Contents

Question 1: What is your full postcode? 2

Post Code 2

Question 2: How long have you been living in this area? 2

27 how long living in area 2

Question 3: Which of the following best describe your tenure type? 3

Tenure 3

Question 4: Which of the following best describe your housing type? 3

Tenure 3

(please state) 4

Question 5: Do you recieve: 4

Collection Type 4

Question 6: How satisfied are you with the reliability of the collection service? 4

Reliability satisfaction 4

Question 7: In your opinion, are collections frequent enough? 5

collection frequency 5

If you are not satisfied with the number of collections, please state why. 5

Question 8: How full usually are the bins when collections take place? 5

How full are the bins? 5

Question 9: How often do you see waste on the streets left out for collection at the wrong times? 6

Incorrectly presented waste 6

Question 10: Can you think of anything that the Council could do to improve the standards of the waste collection service? 6

Improvement suggestions 6

Question 11: Bearing in mind budget restrictions and carbon emissions, would it be reasonable for residents to receive recycling

sacks annually rather than quarterly?

6

Annual sack delivery 6

Question 12: Do you recycle? 7

Do you recycle 7

Question 13: How often do you recycle? 7

How often do you recycle 7

Question 14: How convenient do you find recycling? 8

How convenient do you find recycling 8

Question 15: Is there anything that you feel we can do to make recycling easier? 8

Is there anything that you feel we can do to make recycling easier 8

Other 9

Question 16: Do you believe people need to be more educated on the subject of recycling and know where items go after they have

been recycled?

9

Education 9

Question 17: How satisfied are you that your roads are clean enough in your area? 9

Road cleanliness satisfaction 9

If you are not satisfied with the cleansing in your area, please state why and the location where the problem is. 10

Question 18: What do you think is the biggest problem in your area? 10

Biggest problem 10

Question 19: How often do you think your road is swept? 11

How often do you think your road is swept 11

Question 20: How often do you think your road should be swept? (bearing in mind budget restrictions) 11

How often do you think your road should be swept 11

Question 21: Are you aware that you can use ordinary litter bins for dog waste? 12

Are you aware that you can use ordinary litter bins for dog waste 12

Question 22: Would you support authorised officers to be able to issue fixed penalty notices to people who drop litter? 12

Would you support authorised officers to be able to issue FPNs 12

Question 23: If there is a flytip in your street, would you prefer: 12

Page 39



Page 2

If there is a flytip in your street, would you prefer 12

Question 24: At present, roads are swept an average of twice a week whilst main roads are swept daily. Could you put the following

four options of service reductions in your order of preference, 1 being the first service change you would prefer, and 4 the last.

13

Matrix 1 - Streets swept once a week 13

Matrix 1 - Annual recycling sack delivery 13

Matrix 1 - Once a week refuse and recycling collection 14

Matrix 1 - Flytips removed within 1 week 14

Question 25: What improvements, if any, would you like to see incorporated into a future refuse collection contract in relation either

to any of the questions? Please give details.

14

Improvement suggestions 14

Question 26: Thank you for taking the time to answer these questions. If you would like to provide further feedback by participating

in a focus group, please leave your e-mail address below.

15

Please leave email 15

Question 1: What is your full postcode?

Post Code

There were 654 responses to this part of the question.

Question 2: How long have you been living in this area?

27 how long living in area

Under 1 year  

1-2 years  

3-5 years  

6-10 years  

11-20 years  

21+ years  

Don't know / can't remember

Not Answered

 0 198

Page 40



Page 3

Option Total Percent

Under 1 year 10 1.53%

1-2 years 36 5.50%

3-5 years 100 15.29%

6-10 years 122 18.65%

11-20 years 188 28.75%

21+ years 198 30.28%

Don't know / can't remember 0 0%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 3: Which of the following best describe your tenure type?

Tenure

Owner outright  

Own with mortgage or loan  

Shared ownership  

Rented from council  

Other social rented  

Rented from private landlord or
letting agency  

Relative or a friend of a household
member  

Not Answered

 0 296

Option Total Percent

Owner outright 296 45.26%

Own with mortgage or loan 290 44.34%

Shared ownership 7 1.07%

Rented from council 8 1.22%

Other social rented 9 1.38%

Rented from private landlord or letting agency 41 6.27%

Relative or a friend of a household member 3 0.46%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 4: Which of the following best describe your housing type?

Tenure

Flat  

House  

Other (please state)  

Not Answered

 0 490

Page 41



Page 4

Option Total Percent

Flat 157 24.01%

House 490 74.92%

Other (please state) 7 1.07%

Not Answered 0 0%

(please state)

There were 7 responses to this part of the question.

Question 5: Do you recieve:

Collection Type

A sack collection  

A container collection  

Not Answered

 0 586

Option Total Percent

A sack collection 586 89.60%

A container collection 68 10.40%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 6: How satisfied are you with the reliability of the collection service?

Reliability satisfaction

Very satisfied  

Fairly satisfied  

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied  

Fairly dissatisfied  

Very dissatisfied  

Not Answered

 0 400

Page 42



Page 5

Option Total Percent

Very satisfied 400 61.16%

Fairly satisfied 199 30.43%

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied 26 3.98%

Fairly dissatisfied 19 2.91%

Very dissatisfied 10 1.53%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 7: In your opinion, are collections frequent enough?

collection frequency

Yes  

No  

Not Answered

 0 525

Option Total Percent

Yes 525 80.28%

No 129 19.72%

Not Answered 0 0%

If you are not satisfied with the number of collections, please state why.

There were 203 responses to this part of the question.

Question 8: How full usually are the bins when collections take place?

How full are the bins?

Empty  

Half-full  

Full  

Don’t know  

Not Answered

 0 631

Page 43



Page 6

Option Total Percent

Empty 3 0.46%

Half-full 10 1.53%

Full 631 96.48%

Don’t know 10 1.53%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 9: How often do you see waste on the streets left out for collection at the wrong times?

Incorrectly presented waste

Daily  

Once a week  

Once a month  

Never  

Not Answered

 0 232

Option Total Percent

Daily 153 23.39%

Once a week 232 35.47%

Once a month 138 21.10%

Never 131 20.03%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 10: Can you think of anything that the Council could do to improve the standards of the waste collection
service?

Improvement suggestions

There were 475 responses to this part of the question.

Question 11: Bearing in mind budget restrictions and carbon emissions, would it be reasonable for residents to
receive recycling sacks annually rather than quarterly?

Annual sack delivery

Yes  

No  

Not Answered

 0 447

Page 44



Page 7

Option Total Percent

Yes 207 31.65%

No 447 68.35%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 12: Do you recycle?

Do you recycle

Yes  

Sometimes  

No  

Not Answered

 0 638

Option Total Percent

Yes 638 97.55%

Sometimes 10 1.53%

No 6 0.92%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 13: How often do you recycle?

How often do you recycle

All the time  

Daily  

Weekly  

Monthly  

Not sure  

Not Answered  

 0 527

Page 45



Page 8

Option Total Percent

All the time 527 80.58%

Daily 43 6.57%

Weekly 65 9.94%

Monthly 4 0.61%

Not sure 9 1.38%

Not Answered 6 0.92%

Question 14: How convenient do you find recycling?

How convenient do you find recycling

Very Convenient  

Convenient  

Neutral  

Irritating  

Don’t want to do it

Not Answered  

 0 343

Option Total Percent

Very Convenient 343 52.45%

Convenient 198 30.28%

Neutral 78 11.93%

Irritating 27 4.13%

Don’t want to do it 0 0%

Not Answered 8 1.22%

Question 15: Is there anything that you feel we can do to make recycling easier?

Is there anything that you feel we can do to make recycling easier

More recycle bins  

Make the bin accessible  

Make them more visible using
signs  

Fine those who neglect  

Other (please state)  

Not Answered

 0 269

Page 46



Page 9

Option Total Percent

More recycle bins 269 41.13%

Make the bin accessible 86 13.15%

Make them more visible using signs 94 14.37%

Fine those who neglect 174 26.61%

Other (please state) 194 29.66%

Not Answered 0 0%

Other

There were 204 responses to this part of the question.

Question 16: Do you believe people need to be more educated on the subject of recycling and know where items
go after they have been recycled?

Education

Strongly Agree  

Agree  

Neither agree or disagree  

Disagree Strongly  

Disagree  

Not Answered  

 0 291

Option Total Percent

Strongly Agree 221 33.79%

Agree 291 44.50%

Neither agree or disagree 111 16.97%

Disagree Strongly 7 1.07%

Disagree 18 2.75%

Not Answered 6 0.92%

Question 17: How satisfied are you that your roads are clean enough in your area?

Road cleanliness satisfaction

Very satisfied  

Fairly satisfied  

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied  

Fairly dissatisfied  

Very dissatisfied  

Not Answered

 0 306

Page 47



Page 10

Option Total Percent

Very satisfied 98 14.98%

Fairly satisfied 306 46.79%

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied 66 10.09%

Fairly dissatisfied 130 19.88%

Very dissatisfied 54 8.26%

Not Answered 0 0%

If you are not satisfied with the cleansing in your area, please state why and the location where the problem is.

There were 220 responses to this part of the question.

Question 18: What do you think is the biggest problem in your area?

Biggest problem

Dog fouling  

Bulky items (e.g. furniture and
white goods)  

Black bag dumping (sacks or
carrier bags of waste)  

Litter (such as from takeaways,
pedestrian litter)  

Commercial waste  

Other (please state)  

Not Answered

 0 401

Page 48



Page 11

Option Total Percent

Dog fouling 312 47.71%

Bulky items (e.g. furniture and white goods) 192 29.36%

Black bag dumping (sacks or carrier bags of waste) 180 27.52%

Litter (such as from takeaways, pedestrian litter) 401 61.31%

Commercial waste 42 6.42%

Other (please state) 61 9.33%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 19: How often do you think your road is swept?

How often do you think your road is swept

Daily  

Twice a week  

Once a week  

Fortnightly  

Once a month  

Don’t know  

Not Answered

 0 262

Option Total Percent

Daily 53 8.10%

Twice a week 163 24.92%

Once a week 262 40.06%

Fortnightly 68 10.40%

Once a month 33 5.05%

Don’t know 75 11.47%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 20: How often do you think your road should be swept? (bearing in mind budget restrictions)

How often do you think your road should be swept

Daily  

Twice a week  

Once a week  

Fortnightly  

Once a month  

Not Answered

 0 320

Page 49



Page 12

Option Total Percent

Daily 102 15.60%

Twice a week 320 48.93%

Once a week 201 30.73%

Fortnightly 23 3.52%

Once a month 8 1.22%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 21: Are you aware that you can use ordinary litter bins for dog waste?

Are you aware that you can use ordinary litter bins for dog waste

Yes  

No  

Not Answered

 0 387

Option Total Percent

Yes 387 59.17%

No 267 40.83%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 22: Would you support authorised officers to be able to issue fixed penalty notices to people who drop
litter?

Would you support authorised officers to be able to issue FPNs

Yes  

No  

Don’t Know  

Not Answered

 0 558

Option Total Percent

Yes 558 85.32%

No 52 7.95%

Don’t Know 44 6.73%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 23: If there is a flytip in your street, would you prefer:

If there is a flytip in your street, would you prefer

The council to remove the flytip
with no investigation which results

in a quicker clearance.
 

The council to investigate the flytip
before clearing, resulting in a

slower clearance.
 

Not Answered

 0 392

Page 50



Page 13

Option Total Percent

The council to remove the flytip with no investigation which results in a quicker clearance. 392 59.94%

The council to investigate the flytip before clearing, resulting in a slower clearance. 262 40.06%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 24: At present, roads are swept an average of twice a week whilst main roads are swept daily. Could you
put the following four options of service reductions in your order of preference, 1 being the first service change
you would prefer, and 4 the last.

Matrix 1 - Streets swept once a week

1  

2  

3  

4  

Not Answered  

 0 232

Option Total Percent

1 94 14.37%

2 204 31.19%

3 232 35.47%

4 90 13.76%

Not Answered 37 5.66%

Matrix 1 - Annual recycling sack delivery

1  

2  

3  

4  

Not Answered  

 0 269

Page 51



Page 14

Option Total Percent

1 269 41.13%

2 117 17.89%

3 85 13.00%

4 150 22.94%

Not Answered 40 6.12%

Matrix 1 - Once a week refuse and recycling collection

1  

2  

3  

4  

Not Answered  

 0 345

Option Total Percent

1 188 28.75%

2 49 7.49%

3 53 8.10%

4 345 52.75%

Not Answered 35 5.35%

Matrix 1 - Flytips removed within 1 week

1  

2  

3  

4  

Not Answered  

 0 204

Option Total Percent

1 135 20.64%

2 204 31.19%

3 189 28.90%

4 88 13.46%

Not Answered 42 6.42%

Question 25: What improvements, if any, would you like to see incorporated into a future refuse collection
contract in relation either to any of the questions? Please give details.

Improvement suggestions

There were 372 responses to this part of the question.

Page 52



Page 15

Question 26: Thank you for taking the time to answer these questions. If you would like to provide further
feedback by participating in a focus group, please leave your e-mail address below.

Please leave email

There were 232 responses to this part of the question.

Page 53



   

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & RESIDENTS 
SERVICES POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
18th JANUARY 2016 

 

 

2016 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance 

 
Report Status: Open 
 

Classification:  For review and comment. 
Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Officer: Nigel Pallace, Chief Executive 
 

Report Authors:  
Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Finance Director 
 
Mark Jones – Director for Finance and 
Resources 

Contact Details: 
E-mail: hitesh.jolapara@lbhf.gov.uk 
Tel: 020 8753 6700  
E-mail: mark.jones@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The Council is obliged to set a balanced budget and council tax charge in 
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992. Cabinet will 
present their revenue budget and council tax proposals to Budget Council 
on 24th February 2016.  

 
1.2. This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by this 

Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC). An update is also provided on 
any changes in fees and charges.    

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That the PAC considers the budget proposals and makes 

recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 
 

2.2. That the PAC considers the non-standard increases in fees and charges 
and makes recommendations as appropriate.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54

Agenda Item 8



   

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  
 

3.1. The current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)  forecast is set out in 
Table 1. The 2016/17 budget gap, before savings, is £15.4m, rising to 
£55.8m by 2019/20.  
 
Table 1 – Budget Gap Before Savings 
 

 £’m £’m £’m £’m 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Base Budget 167.4 167.5 167.5 167.6 

Add:     

- Inflation 2.3 4.8 7.3 9.8 

- Contingency (includes pay) 2.0 4.0 6.1 8.1 

- Growth  6.2 10.2 10.4 10.7 

- New burden – Independent 
Living Fund 

0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 

- Investment in efficiency 
projects to realise savings in 
future years 

4.0 0 0 0 

Budgeted Expenditure 182.8 187.4 192.2 197.1 

Less:     

- Government Resources (50.3) (40.2) (30.8) (24.0) 

- LBHF Resources (115.1) (113.9) (114.5) (115.3) 

- Use of Developer Contributions (2.0) (2.0) (2.0) (2.0) 

Budgeted Resources (167.4) (156.1) (147.3) (141.3) 

     

Cumulative Budget Gap 
Before Savings 

15.4 31.3 44.9 55.8 

     

Risks 10.2 18.0 22.7 25.5 

 
 

 
3.2. Money received by Hammersmith and Fulham Council from central 

government is reducing significantly every year. Funding reduced by £18m 
in 2015/16 (to £57.6m) and is forecast to further reduce by £33.6m from 
2015/16 to 2019/20. Based on the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement the 2016/17 grant reduction1 is £8.2m. In addition, Government 
has imposed £2.885m of new responsibilities on LBHF without providing 
any funding. 
 

3.3. As part of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement the 
government announced that authorities can charge a 2% social care 

                                            
1
 On a like for like basis 2015./16 grant  was £57.6m and will reduce by £8.2m to £49.4m in 

2016/17. In addition grant of £0.9m will be receivable in 2016/17 for the new burden 
associated with the Independent Living Fund. Total 2016/17 grant is £50.3m.  

Page 55



   

precept. This would raise £1.1m for Hammersmith and Fulham and is 
included in Government projections of LBHF’s spending power2. The 
Council administration does not wish to apply this tax to residents, so it 
does not form part of the 2016/17 budget proposals. 
 

3.4. Locally generated LBHF resources are council tax and the local share of 
business rates. The 2016/17 business rates taxbase will be confirmed in 
February. In future years business rates are projected to increase in line 
with inflation.  
    

3.5. Property developments have placed increased pressure on council services 
in recent years. The budget strategy provides for use of  £2m of developer 
contributions to support relevant expenditure. 
 

3.6. Responsibility for supporting Independent Living Fund users transferred to 
local authorities, from government, in 2015/16. Estimated expenditure is 
£0.9m in 2016/17. It is anticipated that this will funded by government grant 
for the next year, but there is no certainty over future funding following that.  

 
4. GROWTH, SAVINGS AND RISK 

 
4.1. The growth and savings proposals for the services covered by this PAC are 

set out in Appendix 1 with budget risks set out In Appendix 2. 
 
Growth 

 
4.2. Budget growth is summarised by Department in Table 2. 

 
Table 2  2016/17 Growth Proposals 

 

 £’000s 

Adult Social Care 1,475 

Children’s Services 3,164 

Environmental Services 269 

Corporate Services 1,218 

  

Libraries  65 

Total Growth 6,191 

 
4.3. Table 3 summarises why budget growth is proposed: 

  

                                            
2
 As part of the settlement announcement the government state their view of the cut in local 

authority spending power. As well as government  funding this includes their assumption on 
what local authorities will collect through council tax and business rates. For council tax the 2% 
social care precept is assumed and a 0.8% inflation increase. 

Page 56



   

 
Table 3 – Reasons for 2016/17 Budget Growth 

 

 £’000s 

Government related 2,884 

Other public bodies 675 

Increase in demand/demographic growth 463 

Council Priority 1,774 

Existing budget pressures funded by virements from 
budget underspends/savings 

395 

Total Growth 6,191 

  
4.4 For Environmental Services The Home Office have abandoned the 

proposal to introduce locally set fees for Licensing Act applications, 
leading to the need for a growth in the income budget of £31k. The Wi-Fi 
concession project is happening more slowly than originally anticipated, so 
a temporary growth of £128k is required in 2016-17. 

 
4.5 In addition budget growth  is proposed regarding increased resident access 

to leisure facilities.   
 

Savings 
 

4.6 The council faces a continuing financial challenge due to Central 
Government funding cuts, inflation and growth pressures. The budget gap 
will increase in each of the next four years if no action is taken to reduce 
expenditure, generate more income through commercial revenue or 
continue to grow the number of businesses in the borough.  
 

4.7 In order to close the budget gap for 2016/17 savings of £15.4m are 
proposed (Table 4).  
 

  Table 4 – 2016/17 Savings Proposals by Department 
 

Department Savings  
£’000s 

Adult Social Care 5,321 

Children’s Services 3,227 

Environmental Services 2,799 

Libraries and Archives  20 

Corporate Services 3,175 

Housing  265 

Council Wide Savings 1,050 

Total All savings 15,877 

Less savings accounted for in the grant/resource 
forecast3 

(455) 

Net Savings 15,402 

                                            
3
 The council has undertaken business intelligence projects that have generated extra grant 

and council tax income of £0.455m. These are shown within the resource forecast. 

Page 57



   

 
   

  
Budget Risk 
 

4.8 The Council’s budget requirement for 2016/17 is  £167.4m. Within a budget 
of this magnitude there are inevitably areas of risk and uncertainty 
particularly within the current challenging financial environment. The key 
financial risks that face the council have been identified and quantified. 
They total £10.2m. Those that relate to this PAC are set out in Appendix 2 
and discussed in more detail below. 
 

4.9 There is currently a favourable forecast variance in Parking. This is partly 
due to an increase in receipts from parking bay suspensions, which can 
fluctuate depending on the levels of development work ongoing in the 
borough. There is therefore a risk that the existing favourable variance may 
not continue into 2016-17. 

 
4.10 There is a risk that additional costs could be incurred for Total Facilities 

Management due to LBHF withdrawing from the Link. 
 
4.11 The proposed saving in Adult Learning and Skills relates to a review of 

additional income opportunities. There is a risk that the target may not be 
met as there are some areas that need further development. 

 
4.12 Unusually there is no requirement for budget growth in 2016/17 for waste 

disposal. Although the Western Riverside Waste Authority (WRWA) 
contract for Waste Disposal has been increased for inflation, the Council 
had successfully negotiated a reduced rate for the processing of recyclate 
for 2015/16, which relieves pressure on the 2016/17 budget. However, it is 
difficult to predict variable waste tonnages with any certainty due to a 
variety of social and economic reasons, which partly depend upon the 
ability of the council to influence the behaviour of every household in the 
borough. As such a degree of financial risk exists as waste tonnages could 
increase before the end of 2016/17. The growing number of households in 
the borough also presents a potentially significant budget risk with regards 
to Waste Collection and disposal, particularly if this grows to levels where 
additional refuse and recycling vehicles and crews are required. The 
likelihood and potential impact of this household growth on the Council’s 
Environmental Services is currently being analysed.  

 
 

4.13 There is a pressure on the management fee for the Phoenix fitness 
centre and Janet Adegoke swimming pool as a result of a prior year 
MTFS saving. Plans are underway to refurbish the centre and extend 
public opening hours, with the aim of increasing the income generating 
potential for the contractor (resulting in a reduced management fee payable 
by the Council). However, to allow for the refurbishment works and lead 
time to drive up usage numbers, there will be a phased reduction of the 
management fee to a zero cost to the Council over four years. As such, 
there are likely one off budget pressures of £279k in 2016/17, £89k in 

Page 58



   

2017/18 and £11k in 2018/19 although the department will do everything 
possible to contain this with compensatory savings. A reduction of the 
management fee to zero represents an ongoing annual saving to the 
Council of circa £400k.  

 
4.14 A number of Commercial Income Risks exist due to uncontrollable shifts 

in demand that are likely to continue into 2016/17. The £100k pressure on 
Transport Recharge Budgets as result of the outsource of the Passenger 
Transport service has been regularly reported through the Council’s 
Corporate Revenue Monitoring process. The observed downward trend in 
Cemeteries Income may continue in to 2016/17 and is being closely 
monitored. The increase in Commercial Waste Income of £100k will also 
present challenges in terms of customer retention.  

 
4.15 The People Portfolio transformational savings target has never been 

achieved in full and is not likely to be achieved in 2016/17 due to the limited 
capacity to deliver this on a reasonably small and junior workforce.  

 
4.16 The Council hosts the West London Coroners and Mortuary Services 

which bears the cost of inquests if there are overseas terror attacks 
involving the repatriation of British victims. Central Government funding is 
usually pursued to fund any significant costs but is not guaranteed 

 
5 FEES AND CHARGES 

 
5.4 The budget strategy assumes: 

 

 Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, Adult Learning and Skills, 

Libraries and Housing charges frozen. 

          A standard uplift of 1.1% based on the August Retail Price index for 

some fees in Environmental Services. All parking charges are frozen 

  In the future, commercial services that are charged on a for-profit basis 
will be reviewed on an ongoing basis in response to market conditions 
and varied up and down as appropriate, with appropriate authorisations 
according to the Council constitution. 

5.5 Current proposed exceptions to the standard 1.1% increase for this PAC, 
are set out in Appendix 3. All the cemetery costs relating to children remain 
frozen at nil. 

  

Page 59



   

 
6 2016/17 COUNCIL TAX LEVELS 

 
6.1 Cabinet propose to freeze the Hammersmith and Fulham’s element of 

2016/17 Council Tax. This will provide a balanced budget whilst recognising 
the burden on local taxpayers. 
 

6.2 The draft GLA budget is currently out for consultation and is due to be 
presented to the London Assembly on 27th January , for final confirmation of 
precepts on 22nd February. It proposes that the precept will reduce to £276 
a year (Band D household). £12 of the £19 Band D reduction to achieve this 
relates to the end of the Olympic precept paid by London residents.  

 
 

6.3 The impact on the Council’s overall Council Tax is set out in Table 5. 
 
 

Table 5 – Council Tax Levels 
 

 2015/16 
Band D 

2016/17 
Band D 

Change 
From 

2015/16 

 £ £ £ 

Hammersmith and Fulham 727.81 727.81 0 

Greater London Authority 295.00 276.00 (19.00) 

Total 1,022.81 1,003.81 (19.00) 

  
6.4 As part of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement the 

government announced that authorities can charge a 2% social care 
precept. This would raise £1.1m for Hammersmith and Fulham and is 
included in Government projections of LBHF’s spending power. However, 
the Council administration does not wish to apply this tax to residents, so it 
does not form part of the 2016/17 budget proposals. 
 

6.5 Following last year’s council tax cut, the current Band D Council Tax charge 
is the 3rd lowest in England4. The Band D charge for Hammersmith and 
Fulham is the lowest since 1999/2000. 

 
7 Comments of the Director for Finance on the Budget Proposals 

 
7.1 The Environmental Services Group (ESG) is proposing a total  expenditure 

budget of £91.1m of which £67.6m is expected to be recovered through 
income. The total net budget is therefore £23.5m. Included in the budget 
are £14.4m of capital charges which are not controlled by the service group 
and overheads totalling a net £2.3m. The net controllable budget for the 
ESG is therefore £6.8m. This is shown in table 7. 

 

                                            
4
 Excluding the Corporation of London 

Page 60



   

 

Table 7 – Environmental Services Controllable budget 2016/17 

 

 

7.2 Included in the proposed budget are savings proposals totalling £2.799m.  
 
7.3 In some areas additional savings have been proposed to fund known 

ongoing budget pressures within the service group. It is essential that these 
ongoing pressures are funded in order to set a balanced budget for the 
service group from 2016/17.  
 

  Building and Property Management 
7.4 The proposed savings in Building and Property Management of £0.67mare 

made up of the revenue savings related to Fulham Town Hall, additional 
income from the letting of accommodation, a reorganisation of the service 
area, a price reductions in the TFM client function and the council no longer 
being required to purchase carbon allowances. There will be no impact on 
service delivery due to these savings. 

 
  Environmental Health 
7.5 Total savings of £0.04m are expected from the improved enforcement of 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) licenses.  
 
  Planning 
7.6 Proposed savings of £0.26m in Planning are made up of the impact of 

increased income from planning performance agreements and also 
increasing recovery of legal costs from developers. There is also a budget 
reduction in the Adult Learning and Skills service that has transferred into 
the Planning directorate. 

 
 

Page 61



   

  Transport and Highways and Parking 
7.7 The proposed savings of £1.494m are made up by aligning the parking 

income budget with existing variances, adding in the impact of the 
anticipated introduction of LED street lighting, price reductions from 
renegotiated contracts and a new IT system, and a remaining saving from 
the parking back office restructure. 

 
  Cleaner, Greener and Cultural Services 
7.8 The Council has secured a reduced rate per tonne for waste disposal due 

to the sale of fly ash (a bi-product of the waste disposal process). 
Additional improved income from Filming, Events and Hall Lettings 
income is also being targeted including through plans to increase the 
profile of filming locations in the borough.  
 

  Safer Neighbourhoods 
7.9 Opening hours for the Registrars service are to be extended, with the aim 

of increasing the number of available appointments for both the statutory 
Registrar service and the non-statutory Nationality/Citizenship service. As 
well as providing a more accessible service to customers, it is expected 
that this will generate additional income from chargeable services.  
 

  Other Commercial Services 
7.10 Additional Commercial Waste income is being targeted through focussed 

work to both retain and acquire new customers as well as a review of fees 
and charges in line with the market and service costs. Back office support 
savings are also proposed through the deletion of a vacant business 
support post that is shared with the royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea. The net budget for the Markets and Street Trading service will 
be reduced to more closely align budgets with prior year actuals.  

 
  Support Services 
7.11 The Executive Services restructure resulted in the deletion of two 

Executive Director Posts and a Director post. These posts were shared 
with the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and have saved £80k 
per annum after allowing for the creation of new posts.  

 

8 Equality Implications 
 
8.1 The majority of the savings proposed are concerned with back office staff, 

accommodation, IT, renegotiation of contracts and recognising existing 
variances. As such there are no adverse equality implications for any 
particular groups with protected characteristics. Where there are staff 
changes leading to savings, Equality Impact Assessments are carried out 
as part of the reorganisation process. 
 

8.2 The proposal to improve enforcement of HMO licenses in the private rented 
sector seeks to target poor housing that is below a standard considered to 
be safe or fit for habitation as defined under the Housing Act 2004. Such 
housing is often inhabited by persons and families who are on low incomes 
and potentially vulnerable.  

 

Page 62



   

 
8.3 Budget growth has been included to address existing budget pressures 

and as such does not involve any new actions. There are, therefore, no 
associated equalities implications.  
 

 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None    

 
 

Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Savings and Growth Proposals 
 
Appendix 2 – Risks 
 
Appendix 3 - Fees and Charges Not Increasing at the Standard Rate 
 

Page 63



Environmental Services Budget Proposals Appendix 1

Service Description

2016-17 

Budget 

Change 

(£000's)

Savings

Building and Property 

Management

Improved contract arrangements for facilities 

management
(117)

Building and Property 

Management
Increased income from H&F owned properties (35)

Building and Property 

Management

Carbon Reduction allowances-- end of legal 

requirement for council to pay for carbon 

allowances (this is a saving in the purchase of 

allowances only and does not entail any change to 

Council's efforts to reduce actual carbon 

emissions)

(110)

Building and Property 

Management

Improvement in rental income from better 

management of commercial properties
(51)

Building and Property 

Management
Reorganisation of BPM (110)

Transforming 

Business
Accommodation Savings (245)

Environmental Health
Improved enforcement of HMO licensing 

requirements
(38)

Planning
Increase Recovery of Costs of Legal Advice from 

developers
(20)

Planning Increased income from developers' applications (100)

Transport and 

Highways

Sponsorship of Highways and maintenance 

assets.
(10)

Transport and 

Highways

Savings through the roll out of LED Lighting across 

the borough
(155)

Housing Options, 

Skills & Economic 

Development

Review income generation opportunities through 

offering new Adult Learning & Skills classes
(140)

Cleaner, Greener and 

Cultural Services

Additional Filming, Hall Lettings and Events 

income
(42)

Cleaner, Greener and 

Cultural Services

Reduction in the cost of waste disposal resulting 

from the sale of fly ash
(65)

Page 64



Environmental Services Budget Proposals Appendix 1

Service Description

2016-17 

Budget 

Change 

(£000's)

Safer Neighbourhoods
Extend Registrar opening hours to generate 

additional income
(20)

Other Commercial 

Services
Review Business Improvement Team (10)

Other Commercial 

Services

Increase commercial waste income through 

greater market share
(100)

Other Commercial 

Services

Increase markets income through increased 

number of stalls
(22)

Departmental 

Management Team
Reduction in senior management spend (80)

Parking
Savings from the Parking office shared service and 

Information Technology system
(269)

Parking Recognition of historic parking variances (1,000)

Parking Full year impact of Metric contract price reduction (60)

Savings Total (2,799)

Growth

Environmental Health
Statutory licensing fee increases no longer 

happening
31

Transport and 

Highways
Wi Fi Concession  Revenue Share 128

Leisure Increased residents access to leisure facilities 110

Waste Disposal Increased Waste Disposal Spend 0

Growth Total 269

Page 65



Environmental Services Budget Risks Appendix 2

Risk

Division Short Description of Risk
2016/17 

Value £000k

Environmental Services

Parking Recognition of existing parking variances                500 

Building and Property 

Management
Total Facilities Management (TFM) savings                500 

Planning

Risk of a lack of income generation 

opportunities in the Adult Learning & Skills 

Service

               140 

Waste Disposal
Increased waste disposal spend arising 

from volume of waste and inflation
               200 

Waste Collection
Termination of Estates Garchey waste 

collection agreement
                 20 

Leisure
Phoenix fitness centre and Janet Adegoke 

swimming pool centre management
               279 

Commercial Income Risk
Risk that commercial income targets are 

not met in full
               200 

Transport workshop
Income pressure if Passenger Transport 

service does not transfer back in house
               100 

Cemeteries
Uncontrollable downward trend in income 

likely to continue
                 60 

Coroner Increased risk of terror attacks abroad                100 

People Portfolio
Shortfall in the People Portfolio savings 

target 
               249 

Environmental Services Total 2,348            

Page 66



Appendix 3

Fees and Charge 2016-17 Exceptions to the inflationary 1.1% increase

Service Fee Description
2015-16 

Fee (£)

2016-17 

Fee (£)

% 

Increase
Comment/Expanation

Land Charge fees Full search (Non NLIS) 264.00 264.00 0.00%

Land Charge fees Full search (NLIS) 225.00 225.00 0.00%

Land Charge fees Part II enquiries 14.00 14.00 0.00%

Land Charge fees Additional enquiries 24.00 24.00 0.00%

Land Charge fees Additional parcels 24.00 24.00 0.00%

Environmental Quality Demolition Notice S80 Building Act                       (VAT not included) 150.00 150.00 0.00%

Environmental Searches for 

Contaminated Land Enquiries
Residential Property 55.30 55.30 0.00%

Environmental Searches for 

Contaminated Land Enquiries
Commercial Property 111.00 111.00 0.00%

Resident Parking Permits Individual's first permit (6mths) 71.00 71.00 0.00%

Resident Parking Permits Individual's second permit (6mths) 266.00 266.00 0.00%

Resident Parking Permits Individual's first permit (Yearly) 119.00 119.00 0.00%

Resident Parking Permits Individual's second permit (Yearly) 509.00 509.00 0.00%

Resident Parking Permits Discounted permit charges (Green vehicles) 60.00 60.00 0.00%

Business Parking Permits Business first permit (6mths) 475.00 475.00 0.00%

Business Parking Permits Business second permit (6mths) 753.00 753.00 0.00%

Business Parking Permits Business first permit (Yearly) 810.00 810.00 0.00%

Business Parking Permits Business second permit (Yearly) 1,341.00 1,341.00 0.00%

Doctors Parking Permits Doctors 125.00 125.00 0.00% No increases proposed for parking fees

Parking Pay and Display Charge per hour 2.20 2.20 0.00%

Parking Pay and Display Zone A 2.80 2.80 0.00%

Parking Pay and Display Zone A - Visitor's 1.80 1.80 0.00%

Parking Bay Suspensions 1-5 Days 40.00 40.00 0.00%

Parking Bay Suspensions 6-42 Days 60.00 60.00 0.00%

Parking Bay Suspensions 43 days + 80.00 80.00 0.00%

Scrap Metal Dealers Site Licences Minor Variation 26.00 26.20 0.77%

Scrap Metal Collectors Licences Replacement 10.00 10.10 1.00%

Pest Control Fleas 83.33 84.20 1.04%

Pest Control Wasps 50.00 50.50 1.00%

Pest Control Missed or cancelled appointment 24.00 24.20 0.83%

Trading Standards Linear measures not exceeding 3m for each scale. 22.00 22.20 0.91%

Trading Standards Capacity measures not exceeding 1 qt. (imperial) or 1 litre (metric). 22.00 22.20 0.91%

Miscellaneous Charges Officer Time - Hourly Charge 77.00 77.80 1.04%

Miscellaneous Charges Late Payment Charge 51.00 51.50 0.98%

Reception Services Copy of TPO 14.00 14.10 0.71%

Reception Services Copy of legal agreements 24.00 24.20 0.83%

Copying Charges for various documents AO 6.75 6.80 0.74%

Copying Charges for various documents A1 5.60 5.60 0.00%

Copying Charges for various documents A3 2.25 2.25 0.00%

Copying Charges for various documents A4 1.15 1.15 0.00%

Copying Charges for various documents Decision Notice 5.60 5.60 0.00%

Copying Charges for Planning Documents Decision Notice 15.00 15.10 0.67%

Copying Charges for Planning Documents TPO 15.00 15.10 0.67%

Copying Charges for Planning Documents Sect 106 25.00 25.20 0.80%

Copying Charges for Planning Documents Article 4 15.00 15.10 0.67%

Copying Charges for Planning Documents Enforcement Notice 15.00 15.10 0.67%

Copying Charges for Planning Documents Plans

Copying Charges for Planning Documents AO 11.00 11.10 0.91%

Copying Charges for Planning Documents A1 8.50 8.50 0.00%

Copying Charges for Planning Documents A3 5.25 5.30 0.95%

Copying Charges for Planning Documents A4 2.75 2.75 0.00%

Highways Fees Canopy fee renewal 68.00 68.70 1.03%

Highways Fees Skip & Builders' Materials Licences 68.00 68.70 1.03%

Highways Fees  - Each additional month 59.00 59.60 1.02%

Highways Fees Portaloos 67.00 67.70 1.04%

Community Safety Motorcycle recovery - individual 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Neighbourhood Wardens Neighbourhood Warden Patrols (per hour) 100.00 100.00 0.00% Current price is reasonable

These fees are benchmarked against similar fees 

charged by other local authorities and no 

increase proposed

We are dealing with a conflict between two 

different pieces of Legislation nationally and the 

Council has taken the view that these charges 

should be frozen. This has not changed since 

2010-11

These fees have variations from the 1.1% 

inflationary increase, due to the rounding to the 

nearest ten pence.

No increases proposed for parking fees

No increases proposed for parking fees

No increases proposed for parking fees

No increases proposed for parking fees

Page 67



Appendix 3

Service Fee Description
2015-16 

Fee (£)

2016-17 

Fee (£)

% 

Increase
Comment/Expanation

Anti Social Behaviour Anti Social Behaviour investigations - casework (per hour) 100.00 100.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Pin  hole camera hire - charge per day 10.00 10.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Pin hole camera with briefcase hire - charge per day 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Lipstick camera hire - charge per day 10.00 10.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Lipstick camera with briefcase hire - charge per day 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Door viewer camera hire - charge per day 10.00 10.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Door viewer camera with briefcase hire - charge per day 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Large zoom camera hire - charge per day 15.00 15.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Large zoom camera with briefcase hire - charge per day 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Polecam hire - charge per day 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Door viewer camera (housed) hire - charge per day 15.00 15.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Metal hide with camera hire - charge per day 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Notice board camera hire - charge per day 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Fire sign camera hire - charge per day 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Motion sensor camera hire - charge per day 20.00 20.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Briefcase camera plus audio hire - charge per day 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Anti Social Behaviour Camera equipped vehicle hire - charge per day 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Transport Parts
Cost + 

10.5%

Cost + 

10.5%
0.00%

Transport Fuel - Diesel / Petrol / LPG
Cost + 8.5 

to 10.5%

Cost + 8.5 

to 10.5%
0.00%

Transport Ad Hoc Vehicle Hire
Cost + 

10.5%

Cost + 

10.5%
0.00%

Transport Management and Administration Charge

Total Cost 

(excluding 

Fuel and 

NSEs) + 

10.5%

Total Cost 

(excluding 

Fuel and 

NSEs) + 

10.5%

0.00%

Transport Labour Rate per hour (prices starting at) from £45 from £45 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Football grass pitch hire - 9-A-Side Size Pitch Per Game 53.00 53.50 0.94%

Leisure in Parks
Cricket pitch hire - Per Pitch Per Game - Weekend (Inclusive of 

Nets)
128.00 129.00 0.78%

Leisure in Parks Cricket pitch hire - Per Pitch Per Game - Weekday 97.00 98.00 1.03%

Leisure in Parks Cricket pitch hire - Per Pitch Per Game - Weekday (Inclusive of Nets) 107.00 108.00 0.93%

Leisure in Parks Cricket pitch hire - Per Pitch Per Game - Bank Holiday 122.50 123.00 0.41%

Leisure in Parks
Cricket pitch hire - Per Pitch Per Game - Bank Holiday (Inclusive of 

Nets)
133.00 133.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Tennis - Pay & Play Per Hour - Youth (U18) 3.50 3.50 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Tennis - Pre-Booked Per Hour - School 3.50 3.50 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Netball - Per Court Per Hour - Floodlit 30.70 31.00 0.98%

Leisure in Parks Netball - Per Court Per Hour - In Borough State Schools - Daytime 17.40 17.50 0.57%

Leisure in Parks Netball - Per Court Per Hour - In Borough State Schools - Floodlit 22.50 22.50 0.00%

Leisure in Parks
Netball - Per Court Per Hour - Out of Borough & Private Schools - 

Floodlit
27.50 27.50 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Community Room Hire - Adult - per person per round 2.00 2.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Community Room Hire - OAP/Youth - per person per round 1.00 1.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Community Room Hire - Locker rent 10.00 10.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Hurlingham Park - Training Area Per Hour 40.70 41.00 0.74%

Leisure in Parks
Hurlingham Park - Training Area Per Hour - In Borough State 

Schools
40.70 41.00 0.74%

Leisure in Parks Linford Christie Stadium - Adult 6 months (member) 50.00 50.50 1.00%

Leisure in Parks Linford Christie Stadium - Adult (Member) 4.00 4.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Linford Christie Stadium - Adult (Non Member) 5.00 5.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks
Linford Christie Stadium - *Concessionary (12 months only) 

(member)
2.00 2.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks
Linford Christie Stadium - *Concessionary (12 months only) (Non 

Member)
3.00 3.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Linford Christie Stadium - Lifestyle Plus Member 0.50 0.50 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Linford Christie Stadium - Adult spectator/ entrance fee (events) 2.00 2.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks Linford Christie Stadium - Use of shower facilities / changing facilities 2.00 2.00 0.00%

Leisure in Parks
Linford Christie Stadium - Running Track Hire - Training Per Hour - In 

Borough State Schools
30.70 31.00 0.98%

Leisure in Parks
Linford Christie Stadium - Running Track Hire - Sports Day up to 3 

hrs - In Borough State Schools
163.80 165.50 1.04%

Leisure in Parks
Linford Christie Stadium - Running Track Hire - TVH contract rate - 

standard training
3,000.00 3,030.00 1.00%

Leisure in Parks
11-A-Side All-Weather Pitch - Per Pitch Per Hour - In Borough State 

Schools
49.00 49.50 1.02%

Leisure in Parks
11-A-Side All-Weather Pitch - Per Pitch Per Hour - Contract Adult - 

Special Price for QPR / Chelsea FC / Chiswick Hockey
53.00 53.50 0.94%

Leisure in Parks
5-A-Side All-Weather Pitch - Per Pitch Per Hour - Out of Borough & 

Private Schools
32.70 33.00 0.92%

Household Bulky Waste Collections
Up to 10 items of unwanted household furniture, electrical 

items/appliances or similar items
24.85 24.30 -2.21%

Household Bulky Waste Collections Further items charged per additional sack 2.70 2.70 0.00%

Household Bulky Waste Collections Further items charged per additional item 5.20 5.25 0.96%

Household Bulky Waste Collections Household Fencing Waste - First 5 panels 31.50 31.50 0.00%

Household Bulky Waste Collections Household Fencing Waste - Additional panels 5.20 5.25 0.96%

Street Scene Enforcement Fixed Penalty Notices £40-£300 £40-£300 0.00%
Set in accordance with Defra/ Home Office 

guidance and various statutes

Mostly inflationary uplifts only, rounded down to 

sensible denominations

Price freeze and reduction to encourage greater 

service take up by households

Current price is competitive

Current price is competitive

Page 68



Appendix 3

Service Fee Description
2015-16 

Fee (£)

2016-17 

Fee (£)

% 

Increase
Comment/Expanation

Hammersmith Town Hall Lettings Assembly Hall - Bank Holiday Mondays, New Years Eve Supplement
Charge + 

15%

Charge + 

15%
0.00%

Hammersmith Town Hall Lettings Assembly Hall - New Years Eve falling on a Sunday
Charge + 

15%

Charge + 

15%
0.00%

Filming/Photography Location Fee - Schools

25% 

passing on 

fee

25% 

passing on 

fee

0.00%

Filming/Photography Location Fee - Fulham Palace

25% 

passing on 

fee

25% 

passing on 

fee

0.00%

Filming/Photography Location Fee - Community Centres

25% 

passing on 

fee

25% 

passing on 

fee

0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages

Civil Marriage/Civil Partnership - Register Office, Hammersmith Town 

Hall  - Monday - Thursday
46.00 46.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages

Civil Marriage/Civil Partnership - Mayor’s Parlour, Hammersmith 

Town Hall (Register Office) - Saturday
348.00 350.00 0.57%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Civil Marriage/Civil Partnership - Approved Venues - Mon - Thur 348.00 350.00 0.57%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Civil Marriage/Civil Partnership - Approved Venues - Fri 434.00 400.00 -7.83%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages

Civil Marriage/Civil Partnership - Approved Venues - Sun/Bank 

Holidays
563.00 550.00 -2.31%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Naming Ceremonies / Vow Renewals - Friday (Approved Venues) 430.00 400.00 -6.98%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages

Naming Ceremonies / Vow Renewals - Sun/Bank Holidays 

(Approved Venues)
559.00 550.00 -1.61%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Fee for attendance at places of worship 86.00 86.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Copy certificate at time of registration 4.00 4.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Copy certificate in current register 7.00 7.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Copy certificate from historical records 10.00 10.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Nationality Checking Service - Adult (Weekday) 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Nationality Checking Service - Minor (Weekday) 30.00 30.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Nationality Checking Service - Adult (Saturday) 60.00 60.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Nationality Checking Service - Minor (Saturday) 40.00 40.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages

Citizenship Ceremony fees - Individual citizenship ceremony 

weekday
100.00 100.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages

Citizenship Ceremony fees - Individual citizenship ceremony  - 

Saturday
125.00 125.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Citizenship Ceremony fees - Group Ceremony Fees - Sat 50.00 50.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Settlement Checking - Adult 80.00 80.00 0.00%

Registration Of Births, Deaths & 

Marriages
Settlement Checking - Dependent 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Street Trading Charges 1 day per week (Standard Stall) 20.90 21.10 0.96%

Street Trading Charges 1 day per week (Extended) 30.30 30.60 0.99%

Street Trading Charges 2 days per week (Extended) 42.80 43.20 0.93%

Street Trading Charges 3 days per week (Standard) 43.85 44.30 1.03%

Street Trading Charges 3 days per week (Extended) 62.65 63.30 1.04%

Street Trading Charges 4 days per week (Standard) 55.35 55.90 0.99%

Specialist Street Markets
Temporary licence for casual trader - Mon-Thurs (Standard) - per 

day
20.85 21.00 0.72%

Specialist Street Markets
Temporary licence for casual trader - Mon-Thurs (Extended) - per 

day
30.30 30.60 0.99%

Specialist Street Markets Temporary licence for casual trader - Fri/Sat (Standard) - per day 31.30 31.60 0.96%

Specialist Street Markets Temporary licence for casual trader - Fri/Sat (Extended) - per day 40.70 41.10 0.98%

Specialist Street Markets
Temporary licence for casual trader - Standard Application Fee for 

each Site for 1 Distributor (A Site is a Street) for up to 1 Year 
300.00 303.00 1.00%

Specialist Street Markets Additional Distributor Badge 50.00 50.50 1.00%

Specialist Street Markets Additional Zone 50.00 50.50 1.00%

Specialist Street Markets Replacement Badge 50.00 50.50 1.00%

Specialist Street Markets Licence variation 25.00 25.20 0.80%

Commercial Waste Bagged waste and recycling - Minimum Charge 25.60 25.80 0.78%
Inflationary uplift only, rounded down to sensible 

denomination

Commercial Waste
Annual Duty of Care Certificate for casual Pay As You Throw 

customers
30.00 30.00 0.00%

Commercial Waste Annual Duty of Care Certificate for contract customers 30.00 30.00 0.00%

Commercial Waste Revisions to Duty of Care Certificates 25.00 25.00 0.00%

Cemetery Charges All costs relating to residents' children up to 16 years of age Nil Nil 0.00%
The interment cost for residents' children up to 16 

years of age are waived.

Inflationary uplift only, rounded down to sensible 

denominations

Inflationary uplift only, rounded down to sensible 

denominations

Set to cover administrative cost only, which has 

not increased

Current price is competitive

Current price is competitive

Charges set in accordance with the market and to 

remain competitive. Some fees are statutory

Page 69


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Update on Sustainable Drainage Schemes
	6 Wormholt Park Landscape Refurbishment Project
	7 Future Waste and Street Cleansing Services – Involving The Citizen – Consultation Outcomes
	Consultation Results
	Question 1: What is your full postcode?
	Question 1: What is your full postcode?
	Post Code

	Question 2: How long have you been living in this area?
	27 how long living in area

	Question 3: Which of the following best describe your tenure type?
	Tenure

	Question 4: Which of the following best describe your housing type?
	Tenure
	(please state)

	Question 5: Do you recieve: 
	Collection Type

	Question 6: How satisfied are you with the reliability of the collection service?
	Reliability satisfaction

	Question 7: In your opinion, are collections frequent enough?
	collection frequency
	If you are not satisfied with the number of collections, please state why.

	Question 8: How full usually are the bins when collections take place? 
	How full are the bins? 

	Question 9: How often do you see waste on the streets left out for collection at the wrong times?
	Incorrectly presented waste

	Question 10: Can you think of anything that the Council could do to improve the standards of the waste collection service? 
	Improvement suggestions

	Question 11: Bearing in mind budget restrictions and carbon emissions, would it be reasonable for residents to receive recycling sacks annually rather than quarterly?
	Annual sack delivery

	Question 12: Do you recycle? 
	Do you recycle 

	Question 13: How often do you recycle? 
	How often do you recycle

	Question 14: How convenient do you find recycling?
	How convenient do you find recycling

	Question 15: Is there anything that you feel we can do to make recycling easier?
	Is there anything that you feel we can do to make recycling easier
	Other 

	Question 16: Do you believe people need to be more educated on the subject of recycling and know where items go after they have been recycled?
	Education

	Question 17: How satisfied are you that your roads are clean enough in your area?
	Road cleanliness satisfaction
	If you are not satisfied with the cleansing in your area, please state why and the location where the problem is.

	Question 18: What do you think is the biggest problem in your area?
	Biggest problem

	Question 19: How often do you think your road is swept?
	How often do you think your road is swept

	Question 20: How often do you think your road should be swept? (bearing in mind budget restrictions)
	How often do you think your road should be swept

	Question 21: Are you aware that you can use ordinary litter bins for dog waste?
	Are you aware that you can use ordinary litter bins for dog waste

	Question 22: Would you support authorised officers to be able to issue fixed penalty notices to people who drop litter?
	Would you support authorised officers to be able to issue FPNs

	Question 23: If there is a flytip in your street, would you prefer:
	If there is a flytip in your street, would you prefer

	Question 24: At present, roads are swept an average of twice a week whilst main roads are swept daily. Could you put the following four options of service reductions in your order of preference, 1 being the first service change you would prefer, and 4 the last.
	Matrix 1 - Streets swept once a week
	Matrix 1 - Annual recycling sack delivery
	Matrix 1 - Once a week refuse and recycling collection
	Matrix 1 - Flytips removed within 1 week

	Question 25: What improvements, if any, would you like to see incorporated into a future refuse collection contract in relation either to any of the questions? Please give details.
	Improvement suggestions

	Question 26: Thank you for taking the time to answer these questions. If you would like to provide further feedback by participating in a focus group, please leave your e-mail address below.
	Please leave email




	8 2016 Medium Term Financial Strategy
	ES Appendix 1 - ES Savings and Growth 2016-17 FINAL
	ES Appendix 2 - ES Budget Risks 2016-17 FINAL
	ES Appendix 3 - Fees and Charges Exceptions 2016-17 FINAL


